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UCC Eurcpe Limited
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Strategic report

Business model and strategy

LICC Burope Lid. is a subsidiary of UCCT Holdings Co Lid. in Japan. UCC burope Tud. has trnover of
€450.3 million and 1.539 ciirloyees (€454.9 million and 1,546 emplovees in 20181 it is the largest private
label enffee roaster in Furope.

UCC Europe Ltd. has fts main operations n five countries including the UK. France. The Netherlands,
Spam and Switzerfand, UCC Europe Lid is private label retatt market leader in several Furopean markets
and has a number of lungstanding relationships with leading Eurcpean resailers. [n the out-gf-home and
food service market, LCC has developed strong client relationships with many glebally recognised market
icaders.

HCC Europe Lid. has ambitious plans Tor growth and is expecting to further grow Operating Profit in the
coming vears. This growth is driven by the rapidly expanding private label capsule market. expansion of
our product offerings, further expanding market share in the growing out of home chanael and by cniering
new markets across Burope. UCC Burepe Lid. has invested and will continue to invest signiticanily in
these areas,

VOO Europe Lid, (s dedicated to working with internationally recognised codes of conduct, including
Fairmrade, Rainforest Alliance and 77 Certified and is o leader in susiainable coffee.

Risk management, inciuding principal risks and uncertainties

To manage the general business and spectfic risks it faces, the Group recognizes six main areas for risk
MmanaEement

=  Internal controls over business processes and operational procedures
s The Group's cotfee procurement and its position m the coffee marke:
«  Exnesures 1o foreign cwrency ductuations

s Business interruption

L] Brexit

. Coranavirus ({COVID-19},

fnternal controls

The Group maintains a professional framework of risk assessment and kev controls o ensure the Integrity
of 13 business processes and the guality of management information. The operating companics carry out
periodic self-assessments to maonitor the quality of their controfs and maintain continuous Enprovement.
Coffee procurement

For the procurement of its main raw matertal the Group is an active “top 107 -pluyer i the global coffes
market, sourcing a large variety of coffees ongirating from South America, Asia and Africa. The Group's
centre of excellence in Swizzerland procured 77,962 tons (77.78 in 2018} of Arabica and Robusta coffees

at a value of €164.5 million (€179,6 million in 2018). These coffees are traded on the world’s coftee
markets in New York and London.

The Group manages its procurentent risks with a strong framework of controls including hedging and state
of the art purchasing and blending expertse.

Management has introduced a number of disciplines and procedures to better match coffee cover with
customer behaviour which will significantly reduce the Group's exposure to future coffec market
volatility.
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Strategic report (continued)

Risk management {continued)

Farcign currency flucialions
Transactional currency exposures

The Group's main markets are concenirated in three differsnt European currency zones {Eure, Sterling and
Swiss Francy In addivion, the prices of procured coffees are denpminared in US Dollars. Although mast
operating comparnies operate within thelr own currency zone, some of them also have sales or procurement
activities in varicus foreign currencies. As such. the Group deals with ransactional foreign cuwrency
exposures on a daily basis.

In order to secure business profitability. each transaction denominated in o foreign currency 1s hedped
upon commitment of the wansaction. This is achieved either through transaction based hedging o
“natural” hedging of currency streams within the Group {see Mote 28 - Financial instruments).

Transiational currency differences

The Group's batance shzet and profit and Toss statement are maimainad in Euros, its functional and
presentational currency. Ditfersnces arising from the translation inte Euros are not hedged since these are
not related to the conduct of husiness.

Buxistess nterruption

The Group manages ary business interruption risk through disaster recovery planning for each of s maior
manufacruring sites. Each disaster recovery plan addresses where alternutive monufacturing capabilities
ites within the Group and the practical considerations in transferring produciion to another region.

Arexis

The United Kingdorn (UK) held a referendum on 23 June 2016 voting n favour of leaving the Ewropean
Union {EUY. On 29 March 2017 the British Government tendered its formal notice te withdraw from the
EL pursuant to Article 30 of the Lisbon Treary with ap effective date of 29 March 2019, The UK formally

-

feft the BEU on 31 lanuary 2020 and has emtered into a transition period that ends on 31 Decamber 2020,

The principai risk les where no agreement is reacked with the EU. specificaily a trade deal. which would
bring added risk and complexity to our UK operations include the sourcing of coffee machines; and sales
of coffes and machines from owr UK uperation to customers within the EU. which could also ireur duty
charges potentially impacting our competitiveness.

The Group has plans in place to mitigate the risk of Brexit where possible including moving manufacture
of geods rom the UK o other factories within the EU and sourcing coffee machines directly 1o our
warehouses in the EU to avoid import and export taniffs in the UKL

Curunaverns (COVID-19)

The increasing spread of coronavirus giobally poses a potential risk to the Group. The virus has touchad
all corners of the world with governments implementing various containment strategies to curb the spread.
in particular lockdown restrictions where sorial disiancing is mandatory and cafes, bars and restauranis are
closed. As a result, the virus has impacted the Group through loss of sales to bars, cafes and restaurants
and could potentiaily result in disruprion to our supply chain, factory closures and our ahility 1o deliver
goods ta cusStomers.

Whilst revenues to traditional coffee shops and cafes have decreased as populations are told to remam
isolated, this is being somewhat offset by mcreased sales to retailers as people stockpile their homes

The Group is mitigating the risk of coronavirus to our business through:

*  Use of government support schemes such as furloughing of empiovees that are directly involved
in the production and sale of goods and services to customers that are unable to operate due to
government lockdown policies and various administrative roles;

*  Workers are. and will continue to be checked on arvival 1o factories prior to admission for high
temperatures or any other symptom of COVTD-19 to prevent widescale brezkouts: and
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Strategic report (continued)

Risk management {continued)

«  The Group operates several factories across Europe and disaster recovery plans are in place
should a Factory close due 10 an outbreak of coronavirus.

Analysis of 2019 financial performance (business review)}

Drespite a competitive business environment, UCC Europe Ltd and 118 subsidiaries generally performed
weil io 2019 with increases in both Operating Profir and EBITDA compared o last year. The environmen:
is increasingly challenging as comnpetitors continue 1w acquire smaller competition and as they increase
their product offering to match our portfolio. Furthermore there @5 increasing giobal focus on sustainability
and s¢ we continee to strive to develop sustainabie coffee solutons.

Group revenues in 2019 were braadiy in lne with 2018, Total cofies and toa volumes for the vear were
broadly in line with 2018 at 67,680 tons (2018: 68,613 wons).

it 261G the rvoup adopted [FRS 16 'f2ases” which has had 2 significant impact on both the Group
sonsolidated incoms statememt i 2019. Since 2018 remains a5 reported (not restated under (FRS 16, tus
section will refer s 2019 figures before {FRS 16 adjusiments o alfow for a Hke-for-like comparison, The
tabie below reconciles the figures in the financial statements and the figures referred 10 in this section:

2059 IFRS 16 2659
CUR rmillions) Reporied Adjustmenys Adjusted
Incorie Statement
Gross Profh i21.2 (0 M4 T
Operating Profit 213 {0.2) 2
Profit after ax t2.4 0.3 12.7
ERiTDA 56,1 (5.4) 567
Balance Sheet
Total Assers 5§16 {187 5649
Total Equity 316.} 0.3 316.4
Statement of Cash Fiows
Net cash flow from operating, 332 (1.8} 322
investing and financing activities
{ash interest charges 39 {0.2) 3.7

The Group, despite a delay in the instaliation of certain coffee machines, realized a Gross Profit of £121.1
million , €8.9 million better than 2018, aided by operational efficiencies and favourabie rebates.
EBITDA® for the Group was €50.,6 million for 2019, against €44.8 million in 2018,

Operating Profit in 2019 was €21.1 million, a €2 8m increase compared to 20 [8 (€183 million),
contributing to net cash flow from operating activities of €43 9 million (£33.6 million in 2018}

Net cash for 2019 ended €32.6 million (€26.8 million 2018) after tunding additional capital investment in
tangible fixed assets of €21.9 million (€20.1 million in 201 8), cash interest charges of €31.7 million {€4.1
million i 201 8) and scheduled repayments of loans to group companies of €15.0 million (€15.0 million in
2018). Net cash including the impact of foreign exchange increased by €58 million in 2019 (€1.4 million
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Strategic report (continued)

Analysis of 2019 financial performance {business review) {continued)

2018). Net cash including the unpact of foreign exchange increased by €58 milhon in 2019 (€1.6 million
decrease in 20141

Profic after tax was €12.7 million in 2019 (€11 2 miilion in 201 8).

A1 31 December 2019 the Group held assets with 2 total value of €364.9 mitlion (€564.0 million in 2018
with a total equity of €316.4 million (€3060.9 miilion in 2018} Total loans and borrowings at the balance
sheet date toial to €108.9 million (€127.5 million in 2018}, all of which is provided by the Group's parent

compam {€123.6 million i 2018}

Section 172{1) statement

The Directors have acted in a way that they constdered, in good faith, to be most likely 1o promote the
success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole. and in doing 50 had resard. amongst
other matiers. (o

*  the likely consequences of any dectsion in the long term!

+  the interests of the Company’s enmiplovees:

¢ the need 1 foster ihe Company 's business refationship with suppliers. customers and others:

- the impact of the Company s operations on the commanity and the environment;

= the desirability of the Company mainining a repuiation for high standards of business conduct: and
= the oeed to act fairiy as between members of the Company.

During 2019 the Board underook a variety of activities 10 eagage wih stukzholders:

Approval of the amnual budge! and three year plun

This veur's budeer and rolling three year plan were approved by the Board following a comprehensive
review of our swategic priorities and risks to cur business including business mterruplion. A key pillar to
these plans is the reorganisation of the Group to a regional structure. which will allow us to exploit new
markets as well as deeper penetration of our existing markets, as well as the introduction of various
committees and governance to improve decision-making. Our plans are demanding but will position the
Group well whilst honouring our commitments to oer stakeholders. The annual budget and three year
plans have been communicated to all employees both digitally and through townhall meetings.

Chsiomers

The Board is constantly receiving feedbaek from customers through account managers in order to
wtderstand their needs and changes v the marken ¢s well as working with our customers in order © offer
superior products based on the innovations made by our R&D teams. The Board recognise its importance
in the supply chain to our customers and stnive 1 ensure we deliver products on time and of the highest
quality.

Employees

The Board is commisted ro both the waining and development of employecs and the retention of key
personnel. During 2019 the Board formed the Group's first ceniral Human Resources team aim at
standardising processes across the Group. The budget and three year plan include significant expenditure
ori Human Resources including further recruiiment in this area to support leaming and development
iniriatives for employees. Morcover new projects are in place 10 develop succession planning in order to
support the long term growth of the Group.

Cagpital expenditure

The Board continues to invest heavily in capital expenditure. A major tool anderpinning the change in
Group organisation and processes is the implementation of a new Enterprise Resource Planning (‘ERP'}
software which is currently in. The development of the ERP system 15 being accomplished through the
involvement of employees throughout the Group as we come together as ene to determine best practice.
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Strategic report (continued)

Section 172{1) statement (continued)

The new ERP will ultimately improve internal controls and the tools available for our emplovees and
allow more in-depth analysis functiorality which will drive the perfonmance of the Group.

Suppliers Sustainability and {amimunity

This vear the Board took steps through formation of a dedicated deparmment. This team will support the
development and invplementation of 2 Group strategy which fakes inte account the muarerial social,
enviranmewtal and economic challenges facing aur business, our communities and cur plaret; plug wit
promote and foster awareness across our group through in-house presentations, capacity building and
goveamance activities,

The Beard will continug to invest considerable resource in this area, inchading the development of new
sto-friendly product offerings: reducing our operating site environmental inpacts through carbon foogrint
assessment; and expansion of our responsibie and ethical business practices through formation of supply
=hain policies and due diligence processes. We continue to work closely with our customers 1o develop
mrovailve and sustainable products and sohutions which meet their stvategic social and spvironmental
goalis.

On behalf of the Board

Kazuhiro Tashirs
Diivector

24 lune 2020

‘Exmings before misrest taies. deprauation and amortisation
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Directors’ report

The dirsetors present their report and finuncial statements in respect of UCT Europe Limited and 1ts
subsidiariey tor the vear ended 31 December 2819, UCC Europe Limited is a Company owned by 1/CC
Holdings Co Lid in Japan.

Principal activities
UL Eurepe Limited owns 100% of its directly held subsidiaries.

UCC is invaolved in mannfaciuring, marketing aud sales of own brund and private label producs. UCC
aiso distributes cofTee machines and provides related services in the food service and out of home
channels.

Group resuits and dividends

The Grotp made a protiz after tax of €12.4 miftion (€11.2 miliion in 2618}, The directors do nat
recornmend the payment of a dividend for the currant o prior years.

Future developments

Future developments have been commmentad upon ‘o the Strategic Report set out on pages 2-4

Research and development

The Group continues o invest in R0 to ideniify oppertunities 1o develop new and existing producis.
particularty in regard to capsule technology, Our investmant to daie in R&D has proved successful as we
have been able to extend our product offerings that has enabled us 1o enter new markets as welli as
strengthen relationships with existing customers,

Financial instruments

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge exchange rate risks resulting from the purchase of
coffee machines. The Group applies hedge accounting for certain cash flow hedges in order to
simuitaneously recognise both the resulis from changes in the value of the forward foreign exchange
rontract and the hedged receivable or payable In the profit and loss account.

The Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital: #ts finuncial risk management
objectives: details of its financial instruments and hedging activities: and Us exposures to credit risk and
tiquidity risk are included in note 28,

Gaing concern

The Group's business activities, together with the Factors likaly 1o atfect its future developmeni,
performance and position are set out in the Strategic Report. The financial position of the Group, its cash
flow_ liquidiey position and borrowing facilities arc described in the Strategic Report and in notes 21 and
28 of the [inancial statements.

The Group has considerable financial resources, as a consequence, the directors believe that the Group 15
well placed 10 manage its business risks successfully despite the current uncertain ecenomic outlook. The
dirzctors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 1o continue in operational
existence for the foresceable future. Thus they conmtinue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the annual financial statements.

in making this assessment the Directors have also considered the potentiai impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on Group cash flows and liquidity over the 12 month period from the date of approval of these
financial statements. This assessnent also takes into account the measures avatlable to the Group 10
preserve cash and reduce discretionary expenditure during a period when some customers {e.g. hotels.
restaurants, cafes) have had 1o emporarily close their premizes as s resuit of enforcement action by
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Directors’ report (continued)

Going concern {continued)

governments across Eurooe, therefore impacting our sales of coffee and coffes machines in certain
markets.

Qur revised forecasts considered the current government measures in place as well 2s a gradual lifting of
those restrictions over the next 12 months, This scenario assumes the Group's Operating Profit will be
significantly jower than the Board's expectations prior 1o the COVID-19 pandemic. The Directors fumly
beleve, even if there s a more severe impact through extended pertods of customer closure, the Group can
maintain sufficient Lquidity through i) use of its €33 milhon credit tacility. Thiz is a relling 12 month
facilivy that has been in place for several vears and is not utilised at 31 Deceinber 2619, This taciliny
expires on 31 May 2821, i) Governmeni furlough schemes across Europe and; i) reduced capital
2xpenditure.

The Dhrectors have concluded that the potentiat impact of the COVID- 19 pandemic descriped above and
uncertainty over possible mitigating actions represants a matenal uncertainty thar may cast sigmficam
Jdoubt on the Group and Company s ability to continue a3 a gong concern. Nevertheless, baving assessed
the combination of these various options the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate Tesources to continue i operational existence for the next 12 months. For these reasons, they
continue i adopt 3 going concsrn basis for the preparation of the Financial Statements. Accordingly. these
financial staroments do not include any adjustments 1o the carmying amount or classification of assets and

BDirectors and their interests

The directors of UCC Furope Limited at the date of approving these fusancial statements for issue are set
aut on page . The ditectors” interest in the shares of the Company s nil,

Employees

Consultation with employees or thelr representafives has continued at ali levels with the mm of ensuring
that views are iwhen nto account when decisions are made that are liksiy to affect their interests and that
al: employees are aware of the financial and economic performance of their business uaits and of the
Group as a whole,

Apphications for empleyment by disabled persons are always fully considered bearing in mind the
respective aptitudes and abilities of the applicant concerned. It is the peficy of the Group that the training,
career development and promotion of a disabled person should. as far as possible. be identical to that a
persan who does ot sulter from a disability.

Disciosure of information to the auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report 1s aware. there is no relevant
audit mformation, being information needed by the auditor in connection with preparing i report, of
which the auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the company's auditor. each
divector has taken ail the steps that he is obliged w take as a director in order (o make himself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

A reselution to reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditors will be put 1o the members at the Annual
General Meeting,
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Directors’ report (continued)

Subsequent events

In March 2020, Governments across Europe announced lockdown restrictions including the closure of &
portion of our customer base, such as hotels, restaurants and cales, as part of Goverament COVID-19
contaimment plans. The extent of this perted of cicsure and astions by consumers once these have
reopened are uncertain, but we already pote some countries such as Germany and 3wiizerland have
anneunced the easing of jockdows restrictions.

Downside scenario forscasting indicates a fal! in the Group™s Operating Profit in 2020 compared 1o the
Hoard's expectazions prior (v development vf the COVID- 19 pandemic. The impact of these martars on
the Croup's ability to continue as a going concern 15 et oul in note 2
Despite the potential reduction in Cperating Profir, the Directors do not currenily expect an impaimment of
zoodwill, other intangitles, property, plant and equipment and right of use assets based on the projected
headroom available. The Group 5 also wimessing very strong demand from retaiters, which partiaily
offsets a fal in demand from Cut of Home and machinery sales. Fotlowing Uis enguiries. the direciors are
iso of the opinion that the fail in demand will be recovered as lockdown measures are graduaity relaved

On behaif of the Board
Kazuniro Tashpo
Diregtor

[ O :
A L

24 lupe 2020
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Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Report and Pnancial simiements in accordance with
applicable Unitad Kingdom law and those International Finuncial Repoeting Standards as adopted by the
European Union

Under Company Law the directors must not approve the [inancial statements unless they are satisfied that
they prasent fairly the financial position. finencilal performance and cash fows of the group and company
for that pericd. In preparing those financial staternents the direciors are r2quired to

e aclect suifable accounting policies in accordance with LAS & Accounting Pohicies, Thanges in
Accounting Estimates and Errors and then applyv them vonsistentdy:

»  present information. inciuding accounting policies, in & manuer that provides rejevant, reliable.
comparable and understandable informarion;

s« provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specitic requirements in I7FRSs i3
maufficient o enable users 1o understand the dnpact of particuiar ransactions. other evend and
conditions on the group’s and company s financial position and financial perfotmance:

+  sage that the company hus complied with IFRSs, subject to any material departures disclosed and
expiatned in the Anancial statements: and

. make fudgerents and estimates that are reasonable and prudem

The direciors are responsibie for keeping adequate accouniing records that are sufficient o show and
sxpiain the group’s and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable acowracy at any thne the
financial position of the group and company and enable them te ensure that the financial stateraoms
comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are also respunsiblie for safeguarding the asseis of the group
and compatry and hence for taking reasonable stepy tor the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.




independent auditors’ report
to the members of UCC Europe Limited

Cpinion

We have audited the financial statements of UCC Europe Limited {“the parent company ' and s
subsidiaries {collectively referred to as the “group™) for the yesr ended 31 December 2019, which comprise
the group income statement, the group and parent company statements of comprehensive income, the
group and parent company balance sheets, the group and parent company statements of changes in equity,
the group and parent company statements of cash flows, and the related notes 1 to 34 to the group
financial statements and the related notes | to 14 o the parent company financial statements including o
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable Iaw and Internationai Financial Reporting Siandards (iFRSs) as adopted by
the European Unicn and. as regards the parent comproy financial sistements, as applied o accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Acy 2006

D gur opinion:

*  the financial statements zive a tree and fair view of the growp’s and of the parent company ‘s affairs
a5 al 31 Decernber 2019 and of the group’s profit and parent company s loss for the vear then endedt

+  the financial statements have heen properly prepared in accordance with 1FRSs as adopred by the
European Union;

¢ the firancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Infernativoal Standards oo Auditing (LUK (I8 As (UK)j and
apolicable law, Uur responsibilities under those standards are further deseribed in the Auditor™
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below. We are independent of
the group ard parent company in accordance with the ethical requiremanis that are relovant o our audit of
the financial statements m the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other
zthicat responsibilities in accordanve with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficicnt and appropniate to provide 2 basis for our
apinion.

Material uncertainty reiated to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the group tinancial statements, and note | 1o the parent company fnancial
statements. which explain the impact of Covid-19 and the mitigating actions that could be tuken by the
group should the impact be more severe than expected.

Due o coniinuing changes in the exiernal business environment, there is uncertainty over the cffechiveness
of these mitigating actions. inciuding the continued renewal of the unused credit facility inciuded in note
21 w the group financial statements.

As stated in note 2 to the group financial statements. and note | to the parent company financial
staterments. these events or conditions, along with the other matters set forth indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company’s ability 1o continue as
a going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other information

The other inlonmation comprises the information inciuded in the annual report, other than the finzncial
statements and cur auditor’s report thereon. The dircctors arc responsibiz for the other information.




Independent auditors’ report (continued)
fo the members of UCC Europe Limited

Qur opinion on the financial statements does aot cover the other information and, 2xcent o the exient
otherwise explicitly stated in this repont, we do net express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and. in doing so, consider whether the other information is matemally inconsistent with the finangial
staternents or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 1o be materially misstared. 1 we
idertify such materia! inconsistencies or apparent material wisstatements, we are requirsd 1o detenmine
whether there s 2 material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. 1f. based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 15 a material misstaternent
of the other informavion, we ars required to repon that {act.

We have nothing (o report W this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

irfarmation given in the sirategic report and the directors” report for the financial year for which
7€ financial statemenis are prepared is consistent with the timancial staterents: and

- the strategic report and dirsctors’ report have been prepared sn accordance with applicable lagal
requUirementis.

Matters on which we are required o report by axception

In the light of the knowlcdee and understanding of the group and the parepr company and its envionment
obtained in the cevrse of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements It the stralegio report or
directors” report.

We have nothing 1o report it respect of the following maiters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006

FEGHITES US 1 repor‘t s ¥ou It 1IN OuUY opinion:

»  adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, of returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited hv us: or

¢ the parent company financial statemenis are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns:
or

*  certain disclosures of directors” remuneration specified by law are net made: or

¢ we have rot received all the information and explanations we requirs for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully n the directors’ responsibitities statement set out on page 0. the directurs are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they pive a truc and
fair view, and for such intemal control as the directors determine is necessary t¢ enabie the preparation of
financisl statements that are free from matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud vr error,

In prepaning the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the gotg concern basis of accounting uniess the directors either intend to liguidate the
group or the parent company o 10 cease operations, or have no realistic alfernative but 1o do so.

Auditor's responsibiiities for the audit of the financial statements

Crar objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 8 whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
tciudes our opinton. Reasonable assurance is 2 high level of assurance. but is not a guarantee that an audit




Independent auditors’ report {continued)
to the members of UCC Eurcpe Limited

conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK will always detect a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstarerients can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if. mdividually or in the
aggreoare. they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic Jecisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial siatements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the andit of the financial statemente is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at hitips:Fwww fre.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s repori.

Use of gur report

This repert is made solely o the company’s members. a: a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part {6
of the Companies Act 2066, Cur audit work has been sndertaken so that we mright state to the compam s
members those matters we are required 1o state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpase. To
the fulfest extent permitted by law. we do not accept or assume responsibility 1o anyone other than the
company and the company s members a5 a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Zishan Nurmobamed (Senior statutory auditort
for and on behalf of Emst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Loadon
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Group income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2018

201G S8

. B L o Noste 000 Fijin

Revenue 5 430311 454955
Cost of goods o {329.094 (342638}
Grogs Profit 121,217 112,277
Administrative expenses P (66,1011 (67427
Drepreciation and amortisation I B {33.825) {26,538}
Cperating Profit 21,287 18,292
Finapee income & 9 432
Finanea cosis 5 (3.1267 454
Profit befare tax 18170 14,180
incoine tax xpense L {5,774 {3.028)
Profit for the year 12,346 11,152

Al transactions are derived from continuing operations.

Uhe accompanying notes ave an integral part ot the Group fimanciai staemenis.
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Group statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

250 20N
&G €050
Profit fur the year 12,396 11,152
Other comprehensive {logs] / incomae:
Exchange ditfferences:
fneome’{ Loss) on ranslation of foreign operations 4509 {248)
Cash flow hedge fair valuz movemnents 28 {253 -
Met other comprehensive income f (loss} that may be reclassified
to profit or ioss in subsaquent years 4256 {1963
Actuarial (toss) gain on defined beneti: pension plans due 1o liabiiity
assumstion changes 22 (1% 870} 477
Rewren on plan assets higher (lower) than discount rate on defined . R (273
benetit pension plans - ’ 0
Tax effect 14 ime 323
WNet other comprehensive (loss)fincome that will not be
reclassified to profit or joss in subsequent years {154 178
Tota! comprehensive income for the year, net of tax I5,iH ;Luz:g

the accompanying notes are an integral part of the Group financial statemenis.
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Group baiance sheet

At 31 December 2019
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Director
R
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Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment Li 143,632 AL R
Intangibie assets iz 302,447 048,791
Investments in assotiates i4 - 338
Long term receivables S 1,029 1,085
Dreferred tax assets RV 197 B 7359
Total non-current assets 413,813 342,988
Current asseis
Inventories th 47,774 68,783
Trade and other receivabiss £7 57432 73486
Cash and sash equivajents i8 532,599 26,751
Total current assetg _ _ 167,885 17,0240
Total assets . 581,520 564,008
Equity and habmhe-s
Equity
Share capital 1o 294,600
Forewgn currency transiation raserve 290 {2,145y
Retained earnimgs 0 28033
COtherreserves 24 X B10) B
Total equity 316,052
Non-current liabilities
Loans and burmowings 2t 83394 08,374
Employes benelin liabliities 22 5.047 4,559
Daferred tax labilities 1958 17,494 17,803
Provisions 23 177 625
Lease liabiluies 7 12,125 -
Total non-current liabilities 129,437 131,581
Current Labilities
Loans and borowings Zi i5238 18,952
Trade and other pavables 24 84,104 87.04
Provisions 23 [l S04
Income tax payable 2.549 1,033
Other current liabilities 23 13,675 16,129
Caontract lHabilities pLy 7420
Lease liabilities 27 -
Derivative financial mstruments e -
Total current liabijities 136,130 131,486
Total equity and liabilities 381,620 5&(}88
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Group statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2619

Fuoreign
CHrrEnCY
Share iranslation Rerained {Hier
copital resgne earnings reserves  Total equin
E0OG ETHME _ Fiily I £1H
At 31 December 2017 294.060 6358y 4,485 (2,212 289,913
Profit for the year - - THisz - 1132
Othrer comprehensive loss - {2946} - 174 (125}
Total comprehensive
income - {2953 VE,152 179 11,026
At 31 Decamber 2018 1944500  (8.654) 15637 _£2.047) 306,941
Profit for the year - - 12,166 - 12396
Other comprehensive
oM . 430 - {1,754 2715
Total comprehensive
income ) - 4569 12396 {1,794) 15,111
At 31 December 2019 294,000 (=045 28,033 (H,836) 316,052

*(ther reservas includes cash flow hedging reserve of £(2557k.

-7
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Group statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2ar9 2irgd
Note Fl8 gk
Operating activities
Profit before wax %170 13,180
Adjusaments 1o reconcile profit before tax o net cash lows
epreciution of property, plant and syuipment il 22,885 P31
- Amontisation of intangible assets 12 10.94¢ P1.427
Net finance ¢osts 4183
Loss on disposal of propeny, plant and equipment 146 i
rofit on disposal of imangible assets 70y -
Brofit on disposal of cut of home operation 1 France {803 -
- Movements i aon-current habilines {605 (2322
-  Movements in provisions {7493 -
Working capital adjustments:
- Decreased{Increases in irade and other receivables 100628 (6043
Devrease in inventories (293¢ 16,1421
- {DecreaseVincrease in current Habilitics e {3.865) 2.184
Cash generated from operations 28037
Interest received 3 5 42
incoine tax paud N o iA0esy i
Net cash Hows from operating activities o 53,219
investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property. plant and eguipment - 43
Procecds trom sale of mvestments 870 -
Proceeds from sale of husiness unit LN
Purchase of property, plant and cquipment (21.922) (20,1543
Purchase of ntangible assets 12 {1080 263
Net cash flows used in investing activities {21827 {20,115
Financing activities
Repayment of loans and horrowmngs {13,000} {13,004
Repaymeni of lease liabilities {(3.29%) -
Finance costs paid . 3.945) {4.19%)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (24.243) {19.260)
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivaients 7449 {5,757
Met foreign exchange difference 2.035 358
ash and cash equivalents at 1 January 23,118 28314
Cash and cash equivaients at 31 December 32,599 13,115
Included within cash and cash equivalents 18 32,299 26,751
Included within bank overdrafl 21 - (3,636)
Total cash and cash equivalents . 32,599 23,115




UCC Europe Limited

Registered No. 80169171

Notes to the financial statements
at 341 December 2018

General information

LACC Europe [1
England and Wales

fied (~the Company ™ is a private {imired company incorporated and domiciled in

The Company owns, directly or indivectly. investmients in the numerous companies involved in agiivitie
directiy or indirectly refated (e the manutaciure, distribution or sale of cotfee. tea. side producis and coifze
inachines.

Basis of preparation

The Group financia! statements have been prepared in accordance with Inmtemational Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the Furopean Union und the Companies Act 2006,

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 2 historical cost basis, except for derivative
finansial instruments, which arz measured a1 fair value,

The accouniin iz aiicies which foliow set out thoze pol 1(.15‘.'\ t‘-!u‘i I l\' | T piep t-Il!lE the financial
Hivy
sUHEMEN

The prevailing exchange-rais
CHF1 12610 €1 in 2018).

Guarantees

ai the vear-end were £0846 10 €1 and CHF L 087 o €1 (£0898 o €1 ang

The foltowing LK subsiaiacies of the Groop are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Aot 2000
refating to the audit of accounts by virtue of section 479A of this Ac

The company has provided parent guerantees 1o these subsidiaries:

Regisiervd

Name Ammher
OO Coffee UK Hotdings Lid 3783245
VIO Coffee UK Lid 2159382
UCC Europe Finance Lid G7FO399%

the foltowing Insh ‘xd[’)‘,}diar} of the Group is exempt from the requirements of the Irish Companies Act

2014 relating to the filing of its own Financial Statements by virtue of section 357 of this Acn

Registerod
J?H-'f”‘ 27 TH
Name frefand
UCC Coffee Trefand Ltd a10t:




UCC Europe Limited

Notes to the financial statements
at 31 Decomber 2019

Basis of preparation {continuead)

Going concern

The Group's business activities, gether with the factors tikely to affect s fature development,
performance and position are set out in the Strategic Report. The financial posstion of the Group. iis cash
flow, Hauidity position and borrowing faciiities are described in the Strategic Report and in noites 21 anc
18 af the financial statements.

The Group has corsiderable financial resourecs, as & consequence. the direciors believe that the Group is
well placed 1o manage its business nisks seccessiully despite the current uncertain economic outiook. The
directors have a reasonobic expevtation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operationa:
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue io adopt ihe going voncem basis of accoumsing
preparing the annual financial statements,

In making this assessment the Directors have alse considered the potential impact of the CGVID-19
pandemis on Group cash flows and ligaidity over the 12 month perfad from the date of approval of these
financial statements. This assessment also takes into account the measures available ro the Group o
nreserve cash and reduce discretionary expenditure during a period when some customers {e.g. hotels.
restaurants, cafes) have had to wemporarily close their premises as a resull of enfercement action by
governments across Durope, thevefors impacting our sales of coffee and coffer machines in vertain
markets.

Owir revised forecasts considered the curmrent govermment measures in place as well as a graduatl Bhicg of
= P E

4

those Testricnons over the next 12 waonths. This scenario assumes the Group's Operating Profit will be
significantly lower than the Beard s expectations prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Divectors firmly
believe. even if there is @ more severe impact through extended periods of custamer closure, the Group can
maintain sufficient liquidity through 1) use of its €53 million credit facitine. This is a rolling 12 month
facility that has been in place fur saveral years ard is not atilised at 31 December 2019, This facility
expiras on 31 May 2021 i) Government furfough schermves across Europe and; i) reduced capital
expenditure.

The Directors have conciuded that tne potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic described above and
unceainty over possible mitigating actions represents a materin) uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group and Company s ability 10 continue as a going concern. Nevertheless, having assessed
the combination of these varicus options the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources o continue in oparational existence for the next |2 months. For these reasons, they
continue to adopt a going concern basis for the preparation of the Financial S1atements. Accordingly. these
financial statemants do not include any adjustments o the carrying amouni or classification of assets and
linbitities that would resuli if the Group and Company were unable to continue as a going concem.




UCC Europe Limited

Notes to the financial statements
at 31 December 2019

Basis of preparation {continued}
Basis of consolidation
Subyidiuries

—~

The Group financial staternents consoiidate the financial statemenss of UCC Burope Limied and the
entities it controls its subsidiaries) drawn up 16 31 December gach vear

Subsidiaries are consobidated from the date of their acgquisition. being the date on which the Group obtans

contral. and coniinue 0 be consclidated nnta the date that such contrel ceases. Control is achieved when

the Group is exposed, or has rights. 10 varizble retarns from its involvement with the invest2e and has the

ability tc affect those returns through s power over the investee. Specificaliv, the Graup controls an

investee of and only 1f the Group has

s Power over the invesiee (i.¢. existing rights that ghve it the current ability to direct the relevant
acriviries of the investeg ).

& Exposere. or rights. to variable retarns from its involvement with the investee. and

] The ability to use (s power over the investee to arfect its rewms.

Wher the Group has less than a majortty of the voting or similar vights ol an investee. the Oroup considens
2l relevant [aets and circumstunees in assessing whether it has power over an nvesies, whiding:

. The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the invesiee.
¢ Rights arising from other confractual arrangements.
. The Group's voting rights and potential voting righis.

The Group re-assesses whether of not it gontrols an investee if facts and circumstances indivate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. The financial statements of subsidiaries used
it the preparation of fhie group financial statements are prepared for the samne reporting year as the parent
undertaking and are based on consistent acconnting poticies. All intra-group balances and tansactions.
wmeluding unrealised profits arising from them, are climinated in full.

A change in the ownership mierest of o subsidiary. withoul loss of contzot, is accounted for as an sguiy
wansaction. If the Group loses conirol over a subsidiary, it {1} derecognises the assets {including goodwiil)
ang abilities of the subsidiary, {27 derecognises the carryipg amount of any non-condrolling inrerest
derecognises the cumulative transiation differences, recorded in equity: (4) recognises the fair valie of the
consideration received: (5) recognises the fair value of any investment retained; (9) recognises any surplus
or deficit in profit or loss; (7} reclassifies the parent’s share of components previeusly recognised in other
comprehensive income to profit or joss or retained carnings, as appropriate.

Non-corarailing interests

Non-coniToliing interests represent the equity in a subsidiazy not atrirzable. directly and indirectly, 10 the
parent undertaking and is presented separately within equity in the group balance sheet, separately from
equity aftributablz 16 owners of the parent. Losses within a subsidiary are auributed w the non-controliing
interest even i that results in a geficit balance.




UCC Europe Limited
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Notes to the financial statements
at 31 December 2019

Basis of preparation (continued)
frvesmest i associates

The Group's interests in its associates, being those entities over which it has significant influence and
which are neither subsidiaries nor juint ventures, are accounted for using the equity method of accounting,

Under the equity method, the invesiment In an associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost phas post-
acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the associate. less distributions received and less
any impatrment in value of individual investrnents. The group income statement retleets the shars of the
agsociate’ s resalts after tax.

Any goodwill arising o the acquisition of an associate is included in the carrying amount of the associate
and iy neither amortised nor individuaily tesied for impairment. To the extent that the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assais, liabiiities and contingent Habilities is greater than the cost of the Investment,
a gain is recognisad and added 10 the Giroup’s share »f the associate’s profit or toss in the period in which
the mvestment is acquired.

Financial statements of associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where
necegsary, adjusiments ere made to bring the accounting policies used in fine with those of the Group.
Adjustments are alse made in the Group's financial staremenis o eliminate the Group's share of
unreaiised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates.

Business combinutions and guodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition methodd. The cost of an acquisition i3
measyured as the aggregate of the consideration ransferred. measured at acquisition date fair value and the
amvunt of any non-controlling interest m ihe acquiree. For each business combination. ike Group elects
whether it measures the non-corroiling interest it the acguiree either ar fakr value or at the propertionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are cxpensed and included i
administrative expenses.

When the Group acguires g business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms. sconomic circumstances and
rertinent condirions as at the zequisition date.

1f the business combination is achieved in stages, the auquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previousty heid equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised af fair vatue at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deermed to be
ar asset or Bability wil be recognised tn aceordance with 1FRS 9 either i profit or ioss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be
remeasured. Subsequent sertiement is accounted for withic equify. In instances where the contingent
consideration does not fall within the scope of IFRS 9, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate
IFRS.

Goodwill is nitially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration wransferred
and the amount recognisad for non-controlling interest over the ner identifiable assets acquired and

liahilities assumed. 1f this constderation is lower than the fair value of the nef assets of the subsidiary
avquired, the difference is recognised in prefit or loss.




UCC Europs Limited

Notes {o the financial statements
at 31 December 2619

Basis of preparation {continued}

Business combinutions and goodwill (comtinueds

Afier initial recognition. goedwill is measured at cost less any accumulared fmpairment {osses. For the
prirpose of impairment testing, seodwill acguired in a business combination 13, from the acguisition date,
attocated 1o 2ach of the Group’s cash-generating 1nits that are expected to benefit from the combination.
irrespectve of whether other assets or lHabtifdes of the acquiree are assigned io those units.

Where goodwill forms part of 2 cash-generating unit and part of the operarion within thar unift is disposed
ol the goodhwill associated with the operation disposed of s included in the carrving amount of the
operation wher determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of'in this
circumstance 15 measured based on ihe relative values of the operation dispossd of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retaimed.

Foreign currency transtation

The Group's greup financial statements are presented in Euros. which is alse the parent undertaking’s
functional currency Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and Hems lncluded in
the financial staternents of each entity are teasured using that functional currency and manslatad info
foures as indicated below

v fransactions and balances

Trapsacuons in foreign currencies arg infiafly recorded m the entity s funcnonal currency by applying the
spot exchange rate rahing at the date of the transacrion. Monetary assets and habilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranshated at the funcrional currency rate of exchange ruling af the balance shet
date. Atl differences are taken 1¢ the income statement, excepr when hedge accouniing s applied and for
differences on moneiary assers and labiiiies that form part of the Group's net investment in a foreign
operation. These are tken tu other comprehensive income untif the dispesal uf the net ipvestment, at
which tune they are reclassitied from equity to profit or loss.

Non-monetary items thal are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are transluled using
the exchange raies as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are wansiated ysing e sxchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined,

1

iy Group companies

The asscts and Habilities of fereign operations are tronsiated into euro at the rate of exchange ruling ai the
balance sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised i other comprehensive income. On dispesal of a foreign
cntity. the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular Toreign operation is
recognised in the income statement,
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Notes {o the financial statements
at 31 December 2049

Basis of preparation {continued)
Intangible assets

Imtangible assets acquired separateh are measured on nitial recognition at cost. The costs of intangible
assets acquired in 2 business combination are their fair value ag at the date of acquisition. Followiny mitial
recognition. intangible assets are carried at cost less env accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impainment kosses. Internaily gencrated intangibic assets, exciuding capitatised development costis. are not
capitahised and expenditure is reflected in the ncome statement in the yvear in which the expenditure is
mcurred.

Internally generated sofhware is recognised as an intaneible asset only if i can be separarely identified, it
is probable that the asset will generate future economic benefits which exceed one year. and the
deveiopment cost can be measured reliably . Where these conditions are not met, deveiopinent expendiure
iz recognised as an expense in the year n which it is incurved. Costs associated with developing or
mainaining computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred unless they increase the funire
ecomomic benettts of the asset, in which case they are capitatised. The expenditure capitalised includes the
cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proporiion of overheads.

The intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic Life and assessed tor impairment whenaver
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
whortisation method for an intangible asset are reviewed at least at the end of vach reporiing period.
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of censumption of fiture economic benefits
smbodied in the assel wre accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method. as aporopriste.
and are treated as changes in accouniing estimates. The amortisation expense on ntangible assets s
recognised in the income statement in the expense categery consistent with the funcrion of the intangible

BS5CTS,

The wnrungible assets are amortised over the estimated useful hves, on a straight-line basiz, determineg as
follows:

- Trademaricy - 1)t 30 years

s Customers relationships - 1o 17 vears

»  Other intanpible assets - 610 § years

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference betwesn
the net disposal proceeds and the caiTying amount of the asset and ure recognised in the income staiement
when the asset §s derecognised.

Propesty. plant and eqripmens

Property. plant and equipmient are stated at cost. net of accumalated depreciation and accumuiated
impairment losses. if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and
aquipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction profects if the recognition criteria are met.
When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced ar intervale, the Group
recounises such parrs a5 individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordmgly.
Likewise, when a major inspection, maintenance ot repair is performed. its cost is recognised in the
carrving amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All
other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the income statement as mcurred.

The Group pelicy states that depreciation is calvulated on 2 straight-line basis over the estimated usefu!
lives of the assets as follows:

+  land and buildings - 25 w43 years
s Machinery and cquipment - 5 1o & vears
«  Muchines rented ot - 3 1o 5 years
. Gther aperating assets 3 to 8 vears

Righi-of-use assets over the length of the lease term
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Notes to the financial statements
at 31 December 2019

Basis of preparation {continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised 1s derecognised
upon dispoasal or when no fuwre sconomic benefits are expected {rom its use or disposal. Anv gaim or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset {ealenlated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds ang
the catTying amount of the asser} is included in the income statermnent when the assel is derecognised.

The assets residual values, useiu! lives and methods of depreciation are reviewsed at each financial vear
2nd and agjusied prospectively. if appropriate.

fmpairmens of non-finuneial usseis

The Group assesses af each reparting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impawed. if
any such indfeation exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an
estunate of the asset's recoverable amount in order o determine the extent of the impalrment loss. An
asset s recoverabie amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit's far vatue less cosis 1o seil
and its valuye in use and is determined for an individeal asset. uniess the asset doss not generate cash
inflows thit are farzely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Whare the carrving
amount of ai asset exceeds ity recoverable amount, the asset i considered impaired and is wrilten down {o
its recoverable amount. Impattment losses on continuing operations are recognised m the income
statement in those expense categornies consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, where zn impainment loss subsequently reverses. the carrying amount of
the asset or cash generating unit is increased 10 the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. not o
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had nu impairmen
losses been recognised for the asset or cash generating unit in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the income statement.

Rever from confraces Wikl custoters

Revenue primarily comprises sales of goods and services excluding sales {axes. Revenue s measured
based on the consideration to which the Group expects (o be entitled in & contract with a custorner and is
oresentedd net of rebates due to customers. The Group recogaises revenue once it transfers control of u
product of service to a customer. The accounting policies apphied to the principal revenue generating
activitics in which the Group is engaged are deseribed in note 3 of the consofidated financial staements.
Yolume rehues

The Group applies cither the most likely amount method or the expected value method 1o estimate the
variabie consideration in the contract. The seleeted method that best predicts the amount of variable
considerdiion is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds confained in the commact. The most
likely amaunt is used for those contracts with a single volume threshold, while the expected vaiue method
is used for those with more than one volume threshold. The Group then applies the requiremients on
consiraining estimates of variable consideration in order to determine the amount of variable consideration
that can be included in the transaction price and recognisced as revenue. A refund liability Is recognised for
the expected future rebates (i.e., the ameount not meluded in the transaction price).

Trade receivables

A receivabie is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional is due from the customer
{i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of the considerarion is due). Refer to aceounting
policies of financial assets in section ‘Financial instruments”.

Condract ahilities

A contracy Hability is recognised if » payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier} from a
customer hefore the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract Habilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract {i.e.. ransfers control of the related goods or serviees
10 the customer).
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Notes to the financial statements
at 31 December 2019

Basis of preparation {continued}

Interest incame

Fur aH Tinancial instmments measured at amortised cust and interest bearing financial assets classitied as
available-for-sale, inierest income or expense is recorded using the effective mterest rate {EIR), which s
the rate thar exactiy discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected i of
the financial instrument or a shonier period, where appropriate. © the net carrying amount of the financial
asget or lability, Interest income 15 included in finance income in the income staterment.

Dividends
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the peyment is established.
Nowm-current assets and disposal groups keld for sale

Moi-current assets and disposal groups are classified as beld for sale only if avaiiable for humediate sale
in their present condition: a sale is highly probatle and expecied to be completed within one yoar from the
date of classification. Such assers are measured ar the lower of canrying amount and fair vahie less costs w
sell and ara not depreciated or amortised.

Provisions

A provision is recoghised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligarion as a resull of 2 past event
it is probabie thay an outflow of cconomic benofits will be required to seftie she chligation: and a reliutiz
estimate can be made of the amount of the pbiigation. If the effoct is matenial, sxpecied future cash flows
are diseounted asing a current pre-tax rate thut reflects. where appropriate. the risks specific to the
trability,

The Group currently recognises dilapidation provizions in respect of leaschold obligations, costs are
provided for at the present value of expected costs w sentle the obligation using estimated cash fows and
are recoenised as part of the cost of the relevant assel. Where material. cash flows are discounted at a
eurrent pre-tas, tate that reflects the risks specific to the dilapidation Hability. The unwinding of the
discount 15 expensed as incurred and recognised n the statement of profit or foss as a finance cost. The
estimated foture costs of dijapidations are reviewed annually and adjusied as appropriate, Changes n the
estimated future costs. or in the discount rate applied, are added to or deducted from the cost of the asser,
Leases

Croiep as o fessec

As explained in Now 4 *Accounting Policies” {New and amended standards and interpretationss, the group
has changed its policy for leases where the Group is o lessee. The new policy is et cut in Note 27,

Until 31 December 2018, assets held under finance leases, which transferred to the Group substantially all
the risks and benefits incidental to awnership of the leased item. were capitalised at the inception of the
izase, with a corresponding Yability being recognised for the lower of ihe fair value of the Jeased asset and
the present value of the minimum lease paymens. Lease payments were apportioned between the
reduction of the lease liability and finance charges in the income statement so as 10 achigve a constant rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the Hability. Assers held under finance leases were depreciated over
the shorter of the estimared usefu! life of the asset and the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retained a significant portion of the risks and bencfits of cvmership of the asset
were classified as operating leases and rearals pavabie were charged in the income statement on 2 straight
line basis over the lease term.

Group as i lessor

Assets leayed out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment and depreciated
aver their estimated useful lives. Rental income. including the effect of lease incentives, is recognised on a
straight ling basis over the lease term.

Where the Group transfers substantially ail the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset, the
arrangement is classified as a [inance lease and a receivable is recognised for the mitial direct costs of the
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icase and the present vatue of the minimum lease payments. As payments a1 due f{inance income is
recognized i the income statement o a3 (o achieve a constant rate of return on the remaining net
imvestment in the lease.

Firnancral nstruments

A financial mstument 's any contract that gives rise to a financial assct of ene entity and a Hinan
Hability or aguity instrument of another eniity

1} Fmancial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are clavsified. at injtia) recognition. as subsequenthy measured a1 gmortised cost, Lol value
through other comprehensive income (OCT, and fair vaiue through profit or toss

The classification of financial asses at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contraciual cash
fiow characteristics and the Group™s business model for managing them. With the exception of wade
receivables that do not contain a significant firancing compunent or for which the Group has applied the
oractical expediens, the Group midally measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case 22
financiai asset not at tair vahie through profit or loss, trapsaction costs. Trade receivables tha: do not contain
a significanr financing component or far which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the wansaction price as disciosed in section "Revenue from coatracts with customers’.

In order for a fmancial asset to be efassified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCL it
needs to give rise 10 cash flows that are “solely puvments oF principal and ioterest (SPPTY on the principal
amount outsianding. This a5sessment is referred to as the SPPT test and is performed a1 an instrument level
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value thiough profit or
loss. irespective of the business model.

I'he Group's business madel for inanaging financial assets refers 1o how it manages its Dnancial assets in
order to generate cash flows, The business madel defermines whether cash flows wili resuit from colfecting
contractual cash flows. selling the financial assets. ov both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within g business model with the objective 1o hold financiel assets in order o coliect
contractual cash flows while financisl assets classifred and measured at fair vabue through OCH are held
within a business model with the objective of both hokling to collecs contracmal cash flows and seiling.

Purchases ot sales of financial assets that regquire delivery of assets within a iime frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the wade date, .2, the
date that the Group commits (o purchase or seif the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of {inancial assets depends on their ¢lassification as follows:
Financial asseis at fair value through profit or lpss

Finanaial assets ar fair vahie through profit or Joss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity invesmments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected 10 classify at fair value through OClL..

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contact. with 2 financial liability or non-financial host, is separaten
from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and risks are pot
closely related to the host; & separate instrument with the same terns as the embedded derivative would
meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised tn profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that signiticantiy
madifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or g reciassification uf & financial asset out of the
fair value threugh profit or loss category. The Group has no embedded dertvatives.
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Derecognition of fnanclal assets

A financial asset {or, where applicable a pan of a fisaccial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) Is derecognised when {1} the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or (1) the
Group has transferved its rights to recerve cash rlows from the asset or has assumed an obligation ro pas
the received cash flows m full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through arrangemnent:
and aither fa} the Greup has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the zsser, or bl the
Group has neuther transferred nor retained substantially all the nisks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses al each reporting date whether there is auy objective evidence thar a figancial asset or
3 group of financia! assets is impaired as foliows:

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group recognises an alfowance tor expected eredit losses {ECLs) for atl debt instruments not held at
fair value through protit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash Hlows due
in accordance with the contract and aif the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash fiows will include cash flows trom
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are imtegral to the confraciual erms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures 1or which there has not been a sigaificant increase
in credit risk since mitial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses thar resutt from default events
that are possibie within the next [2-months (a [2-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there
has heen a significant increase In credit visk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is reguired tor credit
iosses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, frrespective of the tming of the defach (a Hfetime
ECLY.

Fov trada recejvables and contract assers. the Group appHes a simplified approach in caleularing ECLs.

Therefore, the Group does not track changes in eredit risk, but insiead recognises a loss alivwance based
on litetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision mairix that is based on i
Bistorcal credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debrors and the
gconomic environment.

iy Financial labilities

initial recognition and measuremaent

Financial liabilities within the scope of JFRS 9 are classified as financial Labilities at fair value through
profit or loss, foans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
Bedge. as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its fmancial liabilities a1 fnitial
recognition.

Al financial Hiabilities are recognised inftially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings. plas
dirgctly atributable wansaction costs.

The Group's financial labitities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings mchuding bank
overdrafts and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

Einancial fiabifitfes at fair vaiue through profit or foss

Financial labilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial labilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial Habilities are classified as heid for rading 1f they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the
near e This cetegory also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in iiedge relationships as defined by 1FRS 9. Separated embedded
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derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments.

Gains or losses on liabtlities held for rading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
s g P

Financial Habilitiss deaignated tpon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designared u
the initial date of recognition. and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not designated
any financial ltability as &t fair value through prott or loss.

Interast bearing loans and borrowings

Dbligations for loans and borrowings are recopinsed when the Group becomes party 1o the related
contracts and are meassured initlally at the fair value of consideration received less directly atinbutabie
transaction Custs.

After initind recognition, interest bearing icans and borrowings are subsequently measurad at amoitised
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains and fosses arising on the repurchase, settlement o otherwise canceliation of Dabilites ar

recounised respectively in finance income and finance cost

This category gensrally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Derecogniticn of financial liabilities

A tability 15 generally derecoenised when the contract that gives rise 1o it is settled, sold, canceited or
.. = 7 = &

expires. Where an existing financial Hability is replaced by another from the same lender on substanziaiiy

ilifferent terms. or the terns of an existing liability are substantially medified, such on exchange or

modification is trenied as # derccognition of the onginal labihty and the recognition of a new hability.

such that the difference In the rospective currving amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are

recounised in profit or foss.

i) Offsefting of financial mstruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported n the group balance sheet
if. and oniv if, there s a curreatly enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there = an
intention o setile on o nel basis, or to realise the assers and settie the liabilities simulizneously.

% Fair values

The fair vahie of financial insournents that are traded in active markets at the reporting date is detenminad
by reference 16 quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costa.

For financial instruments not waded in an active market, the fair value 15 determined using appropriate
valuation technigues. Such technigues may include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
refersnice to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantiatly the same: discounted cash
flow analvsis or other valuation models.

An anzlysis of fair vaiues of financial instrumenis and further detatls as to how they are measured are
provided in note 28.
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Derivative fivancial instruments and hedge accounting
i} Initiaf recognition and subscguent measurement

he Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracis, to hedge its forelgn
currency risks. Such derivative financia! instnuments are initially recopgnised at fair vaiue on the date on
which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured ai fair value, Derivatives are
carried as financial assets whan the fair value is positive and as financial Habilities when the fair value is
negaiive.
For the purpese of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

« Fair vajue hedges when heduing the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or
babiltty or an unrecognised fimn commitment

= (ash flow bedges whan hedging the exposure to varigbifity in cash flows that is either attributabic 1o a
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or Hability or ¢ highly probable forecast ransaction or
the foreign curreney risk in an unrecognised firm commitment

« Hedges of a not investment in a foreign operation

A the inception of a bedge retatonship. the Group formally designates and documents the hedge
refationship to which it wishes fo apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy
for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identificarion of the hedging nstrument, the hedged Hem, the nature ot the
risk being hedged and how the Greup will assess whether the hedging relationship meels the hedge
effectiveness requivements (inchinding the analysis of sourses of hedge neffectiveness and how ihe hedge
ratle is determined). A hedging relationship qualifies Yor hedge accounting if it meetz all of the followir
effeetivaness requirements:

3

> There is an economic ralationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging insoument.

* The e¢ffect of credit risk does not *dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic
relationship.

» The hedge ratio of the bedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged
item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instriment that the Group actuaily
uses i hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Hedges that meet ali the qualifying criteria for hedge accoupting are accounted for, as desoribed beiow:
Cush flaw hedges

The sffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recugnised in QCH in the cash flow
hedge rescrve. while any ineffective portion is recogmsed immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging
instrument and the cumulative change in fair vaiue of the hedged Hem.

The Group uses forward currency contracis as hedges of its exposure (o foreign cusrency risk in forecast
wansactions and firm commiunents. The ineffective portion relating to forsign currency confracts 15
recognised as other expenss and the ineffective portion relating to commodity contracts is recognised in
other gperating income or expenses,

The Group designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a hedging instrument. The forward
eiement is recognised in OCT and accumulated in a separate component of equity under cost of hedging
reserve.

The amounts accumulated in OCH are accounted for, depending on the nature of the undertving hedged
ransaction. If the hedged tansaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial tem, the
armount accumutated in equity is removed from the separate component of equity and included in the
initial cost or ather carrying amount of the hedged asset or liabitity. This is not & reclassification
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adiusement and will not be recognised in OC! for the pericd. This also applies where the hedged foreeast
transaction of a nonfinancial asset or non-firancial Lability subseguently becomes a firm commitment for
which fajr vaive hedge accounting 1s applied.

For any other cash flow hedges, the anount accumuiated in OCT is reclassified o profitur loss as a

reciassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit
oF foss.

¥ cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has bezn accumulated in OCT must remain
in avcumuisted OCT it the hedged fulure cush Jows are still expected 10 cecur. (rberwise, the amount will
be immediately reclassified o profit or loss as a reclassification adjustrrent. After discontinuation. once
the hedged cash flaw occurs. any amount remaining in accumuiated OCT must be aceounted for depending
ofL the rature of the underly ing transaction as descrived above.

brvepror ies

Tnventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost inchides alf costs mourred in
bringing each product o its present locatton and vondition. as feilows.

Raw matertals and consumables are carried at the lower of cost in accordance with the FIFO or average
method and market value. In Switzerland local repulation requires the company o hold o quantity of

mventors st a preseribed market value. Changes in the value are reported in admmistrative expen
within profit and ioss.

S5

Fimished products are valued ar cost or at cost of manutacture on the basis of weighted average prices
comprising cost of used raw matenals and consumahles and the other costs directlv antriburable to
manufacture.

Net vealisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected e be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Traude wnd other recetvahbles

Frade receivables are recognised and carried at the lower of their originar invoiced value and recoverable
amount. Where the tune value of money is material, receivables are carried at amortised cost. Provision i3
made when there is objective avidence that the Group will not be able 1o recever balamces in full. Balances
are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote.

Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the balarce sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpese of the group statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents zensist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above. net of ouistanding
bank overdrafts.
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income taxes

Current 1ax assets and labilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or nad o the
taxation authorities. bused on fax rates and laws that are enacted or subsiantively enacted o the balance
sheet date,

Defstred ncome tax is recognized on all wemporary differences arising between the tax bases of asscis und
Habililies and their canrying amounts in the financial statements. with the following exceptions:

. Where the temporary difference arises from the initial recegnition of goodwill or of an asser or
lability in 2 ransaction that is not @ business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
agsither accouitting nor taxable profit or joss:

* In respect of waxable wemporary differences associoted with investiments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary ditferences can be coptrolled
and it is probable tha: the temporary differences will not reverse in the foresecable future: and

s deferred income tax assets are recognised only fo the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit will
be gvailable against which the deductible temporary differences. carried forward wax oredis or tas
insses can be ugiiised.

Dreferted income tax assets and labilitles are measured oroan undiscounied basis at the (ax rates that are
expenied o appiy when the related asset is realised or Habiliey Is senled. based on tax rates and faws
enacted or substanrivelv cnacted at the balance sheet daie.

The carryng amount of deferred meome tax assets 1s reviewed at cach balance sheel date. Deferred
nCUme tax assets and iiabilities are offset. oniy if a legally enforceable right exists to set off ¢urrent fax
assets gpainst curvent tax liabilities, the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxation authority and that
anthority permits the group o make a single net payment.

Income rax is charged or credited to other comprebensive income iT 1t relates to items that are charged or
creditad to other corpprehensive imeome. Stmilarly, income tax is charged or credited divzctly 1o equity if
it refates to itemns that are credited or charged directiy to equity. Otherwise income tax i recogrised in the
IDCOMe Statement.

Pensions and other post-emplayment bengflis

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans in cerfain European countries. which requires
contributions to be made to an administered fund. Benefits are provided on a funded basts. The cost of
providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is detennined separately for each plan using the
projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and fosses arising from experience adjustrnents and changes m actuartal assumptions are
charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognised in the income statement as they arise.

The defined benefit asset or Hiability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a
discount rate based on high-quality corporate bonds, as explained in note 3), less the fair value of plan
assets out of which the obligations are to be settled. For the Switzeriand Plans. the plan assets consist of
qualifying insurance policies. Plan assets are not available ro the creditors of the Group, nor can they be
paid directly to the Group. Fair value is based on market price information and, in the case of quoted
securities; it is the published bid price. For the Netherlands plans, the plan assets consist of qualifying
msurance policies. The market value of the assets is based on the discounted value of the funded insured
benefis, using the same discount rate used to determine the Habilities, increase with the amounts available
in the indexation depot. This method is in accordance with [AS19.113.
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Stgnificant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of linancial statements requires management {0 make judgemenis. estimates and
assumprions that affect the amounts reported for assets and labliities as at the halance sheet date and the
amgunts reported for revenees and expenseas during the vear, However. the pature of estimation micans that

actual outcomes could differ from those estimates.

The following judgements {apart from those involving estimarest have had the most signifieant effect on
amounts recognised in the fnancial statements:

mmpairment of non-financial asseis

Arn impairment exists when the carmving value of an asset or cash-genemting unit exceeds s recoverable
amonunt, which is the higher of its fair value less costs w sel! and 113 value in use. The fair value less costs
to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales wansactions in arm’s length transactions of
similar assets or observable market prices less ingremental costs for dispesing of the asset. The value in
use culculation bs based on a discounted cash flow meodel. The cash flows are derived from the
management forecast for the next three vears and do not tnclude restructuring activities that the Group is
A0t vet committed 10 or significant future Investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the
COL peing tested. The recoverabie amount is most sensfiive to the discount rate used for the disconnted
cash flow model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the EBITDA growth rate used. The koy
assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different COUs. including a sensitivine
analysis. are further explained in nete 13,

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations. changes i dax laws. and
the amount and tming of future taxable income. Given the wide range of international business
refatinniships and the long-term nature and complexity of existing contractuai agreements, differences
arising between the actual resifts and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumprions, could
necessitate future adjustmenis to tay income and expense already recorded. The Group establishes
provisions, hased on reasonabiz estimates. for possibie consequences of audits by the ax authorities of the
respective counties in which it uperates,

The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as expertence of previous iax audits and
differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entiny and the responsible tax authority Such
diffevences of interpretation may arise on a wide variety of rssues depending on the conditions prevailing
in the respective compamy’s domicile. As the Group assesses the probabitity for ltigation and subsequent
cagh cutflow with respect to taxes as remote, no contingent Hability has been recognised.

Deferred 1ax assets are recognised for all unused fax losses 1o the extent that it is probable that taxable
profiy will be available agamst which the losses can be usilised. Significant management judgeinent is
reqguired to detenmine ihe amour of deferred tax assets that can be recognrisad, based upon the likely
timing and the level of future taxable profits together.

Further details on taxes are disclosed in note 10,
Pension benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment medical benelits and the present
value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation invoives
making varions assumpticns thai may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the
determination of ibe discount raie. future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.
Du¢ to the complexity of the vajuzetion, the underlying assumptions and its loag-term nature, a detined
benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at
each reporling daic.
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Pension benefits {continued)

i determining ihe appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest vates of cormporate bonds in
the respective currency with at feast AA rating. with extrapolated maturities cotresponding ro the expected
duration of the defined benefit obligation. The underlying bonds are further reviewed for guality, and
those having excessive gredit spreada are removed from the population of bonds on which the discount
rate is based, on the basis that they do not represent high quality bonds.

The mortality rate is based on publicly avaflable mortality wbies or the specific country. Future salary
increases and pension inereases are based on expected futre inflation rates for the respective country.

Further dewils about the assminptions used are provided in note 22
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

fdemtifing performance phligations in bundfed sules of coffee machines and coffee machine maimtenunce
CORIPCTS

The Group provides coffee machine mainienance serviegs that are either sold separately or bundlad
together with the sale of coffee machines to a customer. The coffee machine maimenance services are a
promise to ransfcr services in the futurs and are part of the negotiated exchange between the Group and
the customer.

The Group detgrmined that both the machine and coffee machine maintenance services are disiinci. The
fact that the Group regularty sells both machineg and maintenance services on a stand-alone basis indicates
that the customer can bepefit from both products on their own. The Group also determined that the
prowises to trapsfer the machine und © pravide maintenance servicas are distinct within the context of the
contract. Yhe machine and mamtenance services are noi mputs 10 a combined iem in the contract. The
Grroup is not providing a significant integration service because the presence of the machine and
maintenance services together in this contracr do not result in any additional or combined functionaliny and
neititer the machine nor the maintenance service modify or customise the oither. Consequently, the Group
allocated a portion of the transaction price to the machine and the maintenance services basad on rejative
stand-slone selling prices. Further details on revenue are provided i note 5.

Critical judgement in determining the lease term

fn determining the fease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
Incentive to exercise an extension option, Or NOL ¢xercise a tenmimnation oplion. Extension cpticns (or
periods after termination periods) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended {or not tenninated).

For leases of hutldings, the following factors are usually the most relevant:

¢ Ifthere are significant penalties 1o terminate {or not extend ), the Group is typicaily reasonably
certain 1o extend {or not terminaic).

s Hthere is a material cost to relocate, the Group s typioally reasonably certain to exzend (ov not
terminate}.

= [fthere is a material negative commercial impact of relocating, the Group i3 typicatly reasonably
certain o extend (or not terminate).

The fease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised). The assessment of
reasonably certain is anly revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumnstances occurs
which affects this assessment.
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Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Critical judgement in determining the discount rates in valyation of Right-of-lse assels

The lease pavments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the tease. 17 that rate cannot be readily
determmed, which is generally the case, the muesmemal borrowing rate is used based on the rate the that
would te incurred to horrow the Tunds for an asse! of similar value with similar terms.

Accounting policies

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Group applied IFRS 16 Leasey and the adoption of this new accounting standard is described below
Certain other aew aceounting standards, amendments W exdsting accountng standards and interpretations
which are in issue but not vet effective, either do not apply o the Group or are rot expected 1o have any
material iImpagt on the Group's nef resuls or net assers:

~IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

- Amendiments o IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

- Amendments 1o 1AS 28 Long-term Interests in Assoaiates and Jomt Ventures

- Annual improvements to IFRS3 Standards 20135-2017 Cyveler Amendments 10 IFRS 3 Business
Cembinations, IFRS {1 Joint Arangements. 1AS 12 fncomne Taxes and 1AS 23 Borrowmg Costs

- Amendments o A3 19 Emplovee Benefits Plan Amendment. Curtailmenit or Settlement

- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Staternents and {AS 28 (amendments! Sale or Conmrbution of Agsets
between an nvestor and its Associate or Joint Venturs

- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.

IFRE {6 Leases

iipon adoption of LFRS 16, the Group recognised lease [iabilities in relation 1o leases previcusly classihed
as operating leases under IAS 17 Leases. A lesses is required to:

s spognise 4 lease Hability measured at the present value of the remaining fease payments.
discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application
e Measure the right-of-use asset on a lease by lease basis, at either
2 1ts carrying amount as if [IFRS 16 had always been apphed since the commencement
date. but using a discount rate based on the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the
date of initial application or
= An amount equal to the lease lability. adjusted for previously recognised prepaid or
accrued lease payments.

The Group applied IFRS 16 Leases using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of
initial application of | Jaruary 2019. Under this method the standard is applied there is ne impact on
brought forward retained eninings since value of the tight-of-use asset is equal to the present vahue of the
remaining iease payments. The new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 27

The Group applied the following wansition practical expedicnts:

»  Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics

e Relying on its assessmem of whether leases ave onerous appiving 1AS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingeni Assers immediately before the date of imtial application as an
aiternative to performing an impairment review. There were no onerous leases as at t lanuary
2019,

s Operating leases with a remaining lsase term of less than 12 rroaths as at 1 January 2619 have
been accounted for as shont term loans

+  Excluding initial direct costs Tor the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application, and
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+  Using hindsight i determining the lease tenm where the coniraci contains uprions o extend or

terminate the lease.

¢ The Groug has also elected not o reassess whether a conlract is, Or conaing, a lease at the dae or
ininial appiication. The Group has retied on its assessmeni applying 1A8 17 and [nerpretation 4
Detaymining whether an Arrangement containg a 1.ease for contraces entered into before de

transition daie.

The Tease lability recognised as at | fanuary 2019 differs to the operating loase commitment note
disciosed in the 2018 Fimancial Statements primarity due 1o discouniing using the incremental borrowing

rate at the date of initial appheation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

5.1 Disaggregated revenue information

Revente s wholly attributable te the principal activity of the Group and arose mainly from the sales of
goods fTom contracts with custonters. Revanus recognised in the income statement correspoads o the net

sales.

Revenye stream split

Coffee

Side products
Machines
Service

Total revenue from contracts
Geographical split

The Netherlands

Spam

United Kingdom
Switzeriand

France

Germany

Rest of Earope

Total revenue from contracis

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods ransterred at point i tme

Services transferred over time
Total revenue from contracis

For the vear ended 31 December 2019

- ;
Cropffec and

{Coffee related Meuchings Service Fopuad
Y% eou €000 s
358,596 - -
18,756 - -
- 20 583 ;
- - 435374
377.352 19,588 43,374
5R.413 3,672 4.629 66711
125,722 3.352 129,074
63917 26997 36,451 121,365
50.676 1,497 2294 34,167
47,634 - - 47 634
2.482 - - 7487
28,515 67 - 28,582
T masr G585 43374 450311
377,352 29,585 - 406,937
- 43,37 43,374
377352 29,585 33374 450311
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Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

For the vear ended 3t December 2018

Caoffee and

Caffee relarzd AMachines Service Toeal
FOu) £000 i 2ty
Coffee 369,834 - - 369 834
Side proaucts 18,778 - - 18778
Machines - 26.567 - 318 367
Service - - 35718
Tota} revenue from contracts o -EWS,GSE; i 26,567 154 915
Geographical spiit
The Neiherlands 4,686 4,734 4 43% 73,829
Spain 121485 - - 21495
Lintted Kingdom 66.563 20,300 2301 124,887
Switzertand 25931 1.464 1 208 AR.A53
France 38,992 - - SR9492
Ciermany 34991 - - 35991
Resi of Earope 26974 3 i 26588
Total revenue from contracts  3RE.633 16,367 3BT 454915
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods ransferred ar point in time 388,652 26,367 - 415,199
Services ransferred over time - _ 39718 0716
{'otal revenue from contraces ' 388,53:’: 26.567 3970 434915
5.2 Contract balances
iy 2005
£ 00
Trade recetvables fnote 17) 62,138 68,504
Long term receivables {note |5} 1,029 1 085
Contract Hahitities (note 26} (12,788 {7.420)
CTs0379 T 62169

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 w 90 days.

Contract Habilities include long-term advances received to provide coffee maching service maintenance.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

5.3 Perlormance obligations
Coffee and Coffee-related sales

The performance cbligation is satisticd apon delivery of the goods 1o the custemer, Payment from
cuktomers s received once delivery of the zoods s made,

Coffee machines

The full performance obligation is satsfied vpon the snccesstul instaliation of the cotfee machiae at the
custonier premisez. Pavmentis from customers can vary with some customers paying in advance of
instailations while others pav once the machine is installed. Advances from customers are recognised as &
conract Habitty. Where machine pstallations are completed. the recetvable is recognised as an asset o7
offset against any advance received.

Coffee machines are also sold o customets orce a minimurn order guaetiny has been met. with the sale

being recognised in line with the zale of cotfee beans. In such cases the performance obligation is satisfied
upon the order and debvery of the minimum order quantity of caffee beans.

Service maintenance contracts

Service mamtenance coniracts generaily run for a period between one moish and one vaar and for which
payment can be receivad upfront. Revenue is recognised over the coarse of the contract on a straight-tine
basts. Revenue recognised corresponds directly with the valae to the customer of the Group™s performance
to daie.

Revenue 13 primartly atiribatable to the principal activity of the Group and arose exclusively from the
saies of goods and rendering of services. Revenue recognised in the income stalemeni corresponds to the
net sales.
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Notes to the financial statements
at 3t Docember 2048

Cperating profit

This is stated afier chargingf creditingk

Adminiswative expenses
—  Indirect wages and salaries
- (eneral costs
Marketing costs
Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of business unit
Operating lease payments — fow value assets ad short tenn leases

Depreciation znd amontisation
—  Duepreciation of property plant and sanipment (note 113
— Amertisation of intangible assets (note 12}

H)jo 008
EO00 [0
28.510 26,483
30473 36,993
£.668 6.4%6
146 51
(3051 )
R
56,101
20889
Ry

The line ~General costs” ineludes markering sosts, professienal fees. 1T costs and distribution costs as wel
as restructuring costs and nop-trading frems of €1.82% thausand (£€2.876 thousand in 2018) which include
costs relating 1o recharges incurred. emplovee tenmnination costs and other business resimucturing costs.

Fees for audit services pursuant to legistanon
—  Fees pavabls for the Parent Company and Group audit

‘Total gudit fees payable 1o funst & Young LUFP for the audit of the Parem

company and Group

Foral audit fees payabis to Emst & Young LLP for the audit of other

subsidiaries

Total audit fees pavable to other firms

Total audit fees payable

Fees payable 1o Emst & Youny Firms for other services
—  lax compliance services

~  Tax advisory services

Totai non-audit tees pavable

Toual fee payvable

I3i9
Eri

PUIE
FEH

-
£

361
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Notes to the financial statements
at 31 December 2013

7. Information regarding key management personnel and employees

Emplover cosis’

26y 2818
£ LA
Wages and salaries &9 802 87626
Social seeurity charges 10,140 0678
Penston costs
—  definad contribution pension plans 2674

detined benefis pension plans (note 223 (1)
- defined benefit pension plan curtaiiment gato (note 22) - -
82 612

The average number of employees during the period was 1.359 full tme equivaient {1,346 in 2078

Compensarion of key managemen personnel:

Mite 2008
1 E000
Wages and salaries el B896
Social charges 07 43
Pensicn costs ~ ,"C’
Total emeluments - 9::‘ L

Kes management personnel are the UCC Europe directors and Group CEG. (2018 UCT Europe directors.
Group CEQ. Group FC, former Group COO and former Group CFO). Directors” emoluments for the yvear
were €703 thousard (€362 thousand i 20185 Emocluments ir respect to the highest paid direcior were
€381 thousand (€267 thousand in 2012).

Compensation of directors:

2049 2005
£ E006G
Wages and salarics 659 362
Soctal charges EX] -
Pension costs . .

Totat emoluments 703 36




UCC Europe Limited

Notes to the financial statements
at 241 December 2019

Nat finance cosis

Finance mcome

Total finance incorme

Finance costs

interest payabie

~ i shareholders foans

- ondebts owed to
on lease liahilities

cradit insvnurtions

—  other

Net foreign esxchange gain on financing activities
Total fipanve custs

MNet finance costs

The other finanes costs mainty concern bunk and commiiment tees.

Share of associates’ post tax results

The Group's shure of post-tax results of associares was a profit of €M (EN) in 2818, The aggregane

meome statément balances of associates are indivaled below.

2019
7. i
PRTE
ASSOCiHes
resulis
030
Revenue - .
Operating profit _
Net finance income o o
Profit before fas .

income tax e

Protit for the period -

2016

Group’s
share

000

2819 JuiN

£ qErH

o __C) 32
- .
(3.320) (3. 740+
{3631 369

{449 -
62} (g
1.068 9
e (B226 (A
QA7 @i
2008 PHIES

Toras

ussociates Oraup’s
raxubts share
“000) Ey

Datails of the Group's mterests in associates are inchuded in note 14,
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Income tax expanse

Tax expeznse in the income statement

Current income tax

—  Cumrent Income 18X expense

- Adjusiments recognised in the period for current wax of prior pericds
Total current tax

Deferved tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

—  Deferred tax vate change
Total deferred tax

Income tax expense in the income statement

Tax relaing to tems charged or credited o other comprehensive income:

Current tax
Total current tax recegnised in other comprehensive imcome

Deterred tax
Actuanal losses/(gains) on defined benefit pension plans

Total deferred 1ax creditdcharge} recognised in other comprebensive incoms

Tax eredit/{charge} in the statement of other comprehensive income

Rezconciliation of the totai tax expense

hig 2018
ELA 1
Siel
44z
5603
17! {804)
— r (804}
5.774 3528
2ty 23
I 000
L A 24 )
37 £32
7Y {32)

The tax expense in the income statemens for the yvear is higher than the standard rate of corporation 1as in

the UK of 1995 (19% in 2018). The differences are reconciled below:

Profit before laxagion
Tax calculated at UK standard rate of corporation tax of 19% (2013 19%}
- Income not taxable for tax purposes
Fxpenses aot deductibie for tax purposes
—  Change 1 tax laws and rates
-~ Tax losses unrecognised
Adjustinents recognised i the period for current tax of prior periods
- fL.ocal tax suffered
—  Effect of higher tax rates on overseas earnings

Total tax expeuse reported in income statement

2019
G

2018

ETHIG
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Notes to the financial statements
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lncome tax expense {continued)

Movement i deferred 1ax on the balance sheet

“On0 0t

Deferrad tax Asgers

Closing balatice 31 December 2017 10243 27837
Reclassification {747 1 74m
Additionfcharge to the result {3.673) (4,490,
Addition‘charye to the U 137 i
Exchangs rate differences R & S 183
Closing balance 31 December 2018 8.318 25,355
addition/charge wo the resnlt 34 203
Additicm’charge to the (1 379 -
Exchange rate differences .4 434
Closing balange 3§ December 2019

Total deferred tax assets and labilities o B.816 26,0603
As presented in the batance sheet U7 17,454

Deferred tan asseis and liabilities that arise in the same taxation acthority are netted on the face of the
balance sheet. €8.509 thousand (£7.536 thousand in 2018) were reciassified from deferred tax assets
deterred tax labilities resuiting in deferred tax asset of €307 thousand (€759 thousand in 2018y and
deferred tox liabilities of €17.464 shousand (€17.802 thousand in 2018}

201% RIS
E0O06 U
Assels
F'ax losses 5,636 5568
Pension 1,132 334
Gondwill, provision and decelerated caplial affowance 2048 zowz
8216 23513
Liakilities
Inmngible assets fair vatue allocation derived from UCC acquisition 18.727 20,240
Tangible assets 3045 3255
Other assets 4231 i.864
26,003 35359

The Group tax josses carried forward where the certainty of utilisation is remote are not capitalised. The
total smount is €39 million (€32 miliion in 20181 The provision for deferred tax on temporary differences
as at 31 December 2019 was calculated at the rate at which it is expected to reverse based on the relevant
Loumry rate ehacted and substantively enacred at the balance sheet date.

The main rate of corporation tax for the year to 31 December 2019 was 18%. The corporation tax rate was
due to reduce to § 7% with effect from | April 2026. However, at the Budget on 1] March 2020 it was
anmounced that the rate of corporation tax will remain at 19%. As substantive enactment of the 19%
corporation tax rate is atler the balance sheet date, the deferred tax balances provided in these financial
statements reflect the enacted rate of 179, For fiture reporting dates after the enactment of the Finance
B}l 2020, the deferred tax balances provided are expected to increase by €400k, and will be reflected in
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
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UCC Europe Limited

Property, plant and equipment

Cost or valuation:
21 December 2047
Additions
Disposals
eclassificarions
Fuily depreciated iems
Exchange diiferences
31 Decemnsber 2018
Transiion adjustment
Additions
Disposals
Reclassifications
Exchange ditferences

31 December 2018

Cepreciation and impairment:

3t December 2017
Deprzeratton charge for the
vear

Disposals

Reclassificanions

Fully depreciated tems
Exchange differences

31 December 2018

Depreciation charge for the
year

Drsposals
Reclassifications
Exchange differences

31 December 20198

Net book vatue:
At 31 December 2019
At 31 December 2018

Machinery
ard  Lund and
Zquipment building
E000 E606
75836 13436
ga22 w28
{(En -
2,236 P97
204 -
§4.111 13438
3,125 2008
(1,397 -
4,580 -
652

Machines
renfed
af

EHUa

7.RG8
{20437

2929

32,265

ther
operdiing
askeis

E008

RSl

18879

10,805
(12n

{4,604}

Right of use

asyerrs Foral

VI E L

- 135817

- 20,322

- 11.868)

- (80

- (13923

- k]
{7828
3.762
.. B5E
22189

{7.994) (663 {3,25%) (1213 - {13,134
122 - 1.a02 17 - 17T

- (5", - s - -

- - 1462 . 492

SN 525 - A i (13
{41,429} (3,876) (18,4693 (8,124 - {785
(9,011) {737) {6.720) (1,114 {53077 {22,889
93% - 2,980 121 - 4.060

12 {12} - - -

B 25 N B (3535 299y (100 (1.202;
(49.937)  4600; (22574 (BAl6) (3407 (91.929)
43,175 2,866 21,200 16,009 16,782 116,032
44,682 11,582 13,79 10,755 - 80,815

‘Other operating assets’ relate 10 motor vehicles, fixtures & fitings and any fixed assers on order,

Depreciation charge has been fully charged within the operating profit.
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12. Intangible agsets

Brand,
Trademarks
Lonsramer
relafionsiips i
Recipes. Sofware.
Distributor L 0ACESSIONS.
Gouodwill  relutionships Patents Torud
£008 E1I0 €10 040
Cost of vaiuation:
31 December 2017 257,565 192431 2,501 432197
Additions - - 26 26
Dsposals - - - -
Reclassification from Property, plant and
CGQUIBMEeni - - 26 26
Exchange differsnces - 27 1,280
31 Decembar 2048 LTS S T 2350 0 3 )
Additions - - 1,080 1084
Disposals - - (R2% {92
Reclassification from Property, plant and
s(uipment - - 3 bR
kxchange differences - 3515 81 3206
31 December 2019 ' 198599 3867 439830
Amortisation and impainment:
31 December 2017 (34,200 {75,608) (2073 (11197
Amortisation charge for the year - {11282 {145} 14,427
Disposals - - - -
Exchange differences -
31 December 2018 (342003 (872
Amertisation charge for the year -
Dhspasals -
Exchange differences -
31 December 2019 3200

Net book vatue:
At 3% December 2019 203,365 97,766 1316 3032 447
At 31 December 2018 203,365 105,086 340 309,761

Trademarks comprise the Group’s trade names for €21.3 miliion (€22.2 miltion in 2018). Customer
relationships amount to €76.2 million {€83.4 million in 2018) and Recipes and Distributor relationships
amount to €)1 mithon (€05 million in 2018).




UCC Europe Limite
T B i T T L R A T e P AR B

Notes to the financial statements
at 31 December 2019

13

Atlocation of Goodwill to cash generating units and impairment review

Uoodwill acqaired through basiness combinations and iicences with indefinite livas have been allocated at

the aequisition date 1o the following cash generating units (~CGUS™) for impairment testing as tollows:

® Linwed Kingdom U™ CGU

L] Nethertands € NL™Y OGO
*  Spain CGU

. Swipzeriand " Swigs™) CGU
The NL CGU includes Rest of Buvope and Genmany and the Spain CGLU includes Pormugal, being the
Jowest level within the Group at which goodwill s monstored for internal munsgement purposes

Carryving amount of goodwiil allocated to each of the CGlis

ZG1g RUTES

careyving Corrying

arreazen! Akl

Jiifu adier 20l after

Cash Generating L nits impalrmenr  impairmenl  impatrmrent lmpairment
600 £L0 £y 01}

UK - 67,305 - 7405
NL - 7248 73245
Spain - 41659 - 11,658
Swiss - 22086 22088
Tetal - 203.365 - 303,363

In September 2019, the Group performed its annual impairment test based on the kev asscmptions
desgribed in the paragraph hereunder. ™o impainmment was identified in the cuirent and prioy years.

Key assumptions used in valur in use calculations

Kev assumptions used in the calculation of value i ose are EBITDA growth rate. discount rates and the
groweh rate used Lo extrapolare cash Dows beyond the budgeted period. The values assigned to the key
assurptions represented manageinent’s assessment of the furure development of the business along with
the future tends in the Luropean goffee industry.

*  The discount rates are a pre-tax measure estinated based on past experience. and an industry average
weighted average cost of capuial.

s Three vears of cash flows were included in the discounted cask flow model based on financial
hudgets approved by management irom the group strategic pian covering a three-year period.
Management determined budgeted pre-tax cash tlows based on past performance and s expectations
of market development.

Growth rate estimates used to determine cask flows bevond the budget period decrease on a straight-line
basis to arrive at the long-term (GDP rate of 2% used bevond 2024,
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Allocation of Goodwill to cash generating units and impairment review

{continued)

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

[riscount rae

Average EBITDA growth rate

to 2023

Growth rate beyond 2023

DNscount rare

Average EBITDA growth rare

to 2022

Growth rate bevond 2022

LK
2074

8.3%%

o
)
o

e
few]

et

&

LK
28]

7.1%%

PRLEY

3.0%

Sensitivity to changss tn assumptions

NL
Pl

Spain
201y

£ 3%

3.8%

2.0%

Sgrain
2a18

i,

4

105,

!

Swiss
RIS
3 4%

Given the level of judgement inhereni in these assumptions, especially in lighr of the current reonumic
climate, an unprediciable or unusual change in the assurprions could cause the varrying value of iis cash-
generating units that have not been impaired to be lower than their recoverable amoiunt. The table below
summarise change in assumption required.

2045

ogn

UK
Switzerland
Spain

KW

RATR

CGL

LK
Switzeriand
Spain

N1,

Dovrewre v
ABITDA
growib rare
(3017
f3.8Pa
{1.838%
i+.5¥%

Desreace in

EBITI4

growth rute
(5.3
[8.8)%
(10.1)%
(4.95%%6

fncrease i
unpna
disenur rare

4.2%

Increase in
annnal
discount rare

2.2%

2.9%

690

1.6%

in the eveni the CGUs forecasts are negatively affected by changes in the economic environment,
managemer is able to mitigate the impact through delaying discretionary expenses such as marketing or
personnel bonus, knproving werking capita! cash flow and reviewing the capital expenditure plan. This
would allow the CGL to meet its original targets.
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at 31 December 2012

Investmenis in associates

At 31 December 2018, the Group. through its subsidiary Smit & Dorlas Koffiebranders BY, haid 30% o7
the ordinary share capital of Kakdi B.V.. Kaldi B.V. i3 2 private entity incorporated in The Netherlands and
iz active in the coffee industry. On 10 July 2019, Smit & Dorlas Koffichranders BV disposad of its 30%
sharcholding for €0.5m at no gain or loss.

The aggregaie assets and liabilities of Kaldi B V. and the Group’s share included in the comparative
financial mformation are set-out below:

Nopn-cuirent assefs
CIBTORt assets
Current tahiities
Ney Assels

Long term receivables

Long temy recetvables arise from
instalinents.

Inventories

Raw materials and consumables
Finished goods

Goods to be recerved

Total inventories

Total
assesiates”
HEF dSSEEs
2009

ekl

Growp's
shars
e
EULI

Foraf
JSSOCigtey
el QESeES
Jely

ETHID

1,184
497

(392

Group's

Shre

21X

08

tha sale of coffee squipment in The Netherlands, which are paid by

209
000

207N

FOu

rJ
w
L
I

VRN

412
5,65

g
6878

1

Inventories include provisions for slow moving items amounting fo €1.6 million (€2.0 miilion in 201 8}

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

Prepayments and accrued income

VAT
{ther receivables

M9
€000

62,138
4,093
480
&7.432

YRR

£000

68,504
5074
1.016

862
_Isags
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at 31 December 2019

Trade and other receivables {continued)

Trade receivabies are non-interast bearing and are shown net of a provision for expecied credit tosses.

The fair value of trade receivailes and other receivables approximates o the book values shown above

The Group applies IFRS 9 simplities approach to measuring expected credit losses which use: a jitetime

axpected toss allowance Jor all trade receivables. The expected losses are bused oo the historic credil

iosses adjusted for forward-tooking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
custorners to settle receivablas, On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2019 was determined

as follows for trade recetvables:

Opening balance

Charge for the perind
Amoaunis written off
Foreign exchange difference
Cloging balance

2R

€000

1.9G2
74
{2427
28
1767

201

G

Expected cradit losses of trade receivables, inciuding write offs and allowances, charged during the year is
included a5 part of other sverating expenses. Amounls charged o the luss allowance are written off when
there is no expectatien of recovering further pavment.

Asat 3¢ December 2039 trade and other receivabies of €1

35

their contractual pavinen: date. The analvsis of trade receivables that were past due is as follows:

Tesdual
£GO0
2019 53,904
2Gi8 70,406

Nenl duee

30 duys
€600

-4

1

Ll e

U
3

,u

a2

Pusid Jdue
31-Uhdagys  Yi-i20 davs

£ €
2.027 393
2.349 345

million (£14.3 mitlion in 20181 were past

=N days

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the camying value of vach class of

receivables mentioned above,

Approximately 35% (30% in 201 8) of the carrying amounts of the receivables were denominated in
Sterfing. Hf the Euro exchange-rate relative to Sterling had strengthened by 16% a1 31 December 2019, this
woukd impact the foreign exchange gain recognised in the income statement by €2.5 million (€1.9 miliion

in 2018).

5% (7% i 2018) of the carrving amounts of the trade receivables were denominated i Swiss Francs. It
¢ Bure exchange-rate refative to Swiss Francs had strengthened by 10% at 31 December 2019, this

£

n
E

Lad bJ
o i
)

NI |

would impact the foreign exchange gain recognised in the income statement by €0.5 million (€04 million

in 2018).

Cash and cash equivaients

Cash at banks and on hand

2014
€000

2018
E006

26,751

Sy | 3
[ 1]

%

26,751
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Notes to the financial statements
at 31 December 2019

18. Cash and cash equivalents {continued)
Cash a banxs sam Urterest at Boating rates based on dalby bank deposit rates. Cash equivalenis mainty
comprise shori-temmn money market deposits with an originas maturity of three months or {ess. and cam
interest at the respective short-term deposit rate.

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximaies their fair value,

For the purpese of the Group cash flow statement. cash and cash equivalents comprise the faflowing at 3
December:

JEIG

OO0

Casn and ¢ash sauivajens

et gash and cash equivalents

1095 (38%; in 2618) of the cash and cash eqnivalents are denominated it Swiss France. 1f the Euro
exchange-rate relative to Swiss Francs had strengrhened by 10% av 3 December 2010, this would impact
the foreign exchange gain recognised i the income staternent by ¢irca £0.7 mifhon (£1.2 million in 20142

bR

Approximaiely 70% ($3%% i 2018) of the amounts of the cash and cash eguivalents are denominated in
Sterling. If the Bure exchange-rats relative 1o Sterling had strengthened by 10% 0t 31 Decerober 2019, this
wortld impact the foreign exchange gain recognised in the mcome statement by £2.8 million (€1.7 miilion
in 2018).

19. Authorised and issued capital

Trousands £
Authorised shares
Crrdinary shares of €1 each at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2018 294 007G 254,000

The shares have full voting, dividend and capital distribution {including on winding up) rights. They Jo
not canfer any righes of redemption.




UCC Europe Limited

TR . . -

20,

21
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at 31 Dezember 2019

Reserves

3t December 2017

Actuarial gain on detfined
henefil penstor plans (net of
tax)

xchanes differences on
ransiation of toreign cperation
net of ax)

ooam

Prolit for the year

31 December 2018

Acraarial tosses on defined
henefit pension plans (ner ot
tax}

Movemernts in cash Tlow hedae
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operation
‘net of tax)

Protit for the vear

3t December 20189

Foregn

CHFFEACY
Share traasiation Retained Cither Fearad

cupiral reserve S PUHES FESCIVES

£000 €008 €001 €000 €000
244 000 {6,358 4485 {2212 REE S
- B - P70 178
. (2963 - - (2961
- - P1OEE2 - 11052
264,000 (6,6541 15,637 2.042) 00941
. - - 03 540
- - - (2550
- 1,300 - - 4,509
. 12.396 - 12395
TUaeag00  (214%) 28033 (3.836) 316,052

Foreign currency transiation reserve

The foreign currency ranslation reserve 1s used w record exchange differences arising from the wanslation
of the financial statements of foreign subsidizries.

Other reserves

The other reserves reflect the comprehensive meome {excluding the forgign currency transiation
differences) relating to actuarial Josscs on pension and movements in cash flow hedges.

Loans and borrowings

Current
Shareholders loan
Bank overdralt
Accreed interest

Non-current
Sharcholders loan

J0i8 261y
EDG) £00
15.000 15,000
- 1636
_.Ass 318
15,258 18,932
93.594 108.594
93,564 108,594
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Loans and borrowings {continued)
Shareholders loan

The loan. with onginal vaise of €198.6 million. has 2 maherity dare of 2020 and i3 repaid in instalments of
£7.3 million every siy months starting rom 31 May 2614, The loan repavinients have been extendad 1o
2026 and will cortinue 1o be repaid in instalments of €75 miilien every 6 months. The balance wili be
settled on the fast day of the term. interest for the next year 15 2.8% per annum ¢2.3% in 25185

Cradit fucitin

UCC Europe Limited has an urcommitted credit facilin with The Bank of Tokyo-pitsubishi UFL Lid of
€20 million. The facifity was agreed in 2014 and s renewed annually every May for she following 12
months, This cvedit facility was not utilised as of 31 December 2019 (not utiiised as of 31 Pecember
2GER), The facility will expire on 21 May 2020,

Since 31 December 20i4. UCC Europe Finance Limited held an uncommined multicurrency overdratt
factiity with The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubisht UF S, Lid. The facility is renrewed annually every May for the
follewing 12 moaths. The current facility limit availabie for UCC Furope Finance [umited is €35 miliion
which was not utilised at 31 December 2019763 6m at 31 December 2018 The overdrall interest 1 based
on the banks own cosis using the Libor index as reference, plus 75 basis poingz. The expiry date 1531 May
2020,

Allthe UCC Furope Group orediz faeilities are guaranteed by UCC Holdings Co.. Limited.
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Pensions and other post-empioyment benefit plans

The Group operates defined benefit pension arrangements in Europe. These comprise both defined benefit
sehemes and defined cortribution schames. The princinal defined benefi pension schemes are Switzerland
Pians and The Netherlands Plans as disclosed in this note. The defined benefiis schemes are accounted ror
in accordance with JAS 19,

in Switzerland the company sponsers three pension plans. All plans are funded and have different benatis
and contribution defmitions. The basic design is however similar in all plans. The retirement benefil is
kased on an individual savings account and is converfed o an anauity at retirement. The anmiity vaie is
defined in the plan. The plan has a yuaranteed rate of retum. The survivor and disability benefits of active
emplovess are defined as a netcentage of salary, The persion plans are not independent company plans
and are affiliated 1o coliective foundations, The assets are managed by the cellzctive foundations. For
pension accounting purposes these plans are considered as defined benefit plans.

The liabilities arising in the defined benefit pians are determined in accordance with the advice of
independent, professionally gualified actuaries. using the projectad unit eredit method. For Switzeriand,
the aggregate plan arnounts are used.

It the Motherlands the company provides aversge pay pension plans to its emplovees. The plans were
funded through separate nvestrment deposits umi! 31 December 2015 The plans are funded via quatifying
insurance policies at the pension insuter from | january 2016, From 1 January 204 the Metherians
pension plan has been closed o future accrual,

¥i

The amourus recognised in the income statement arc as foklows:

e

Switceriapnd erlands
Pians Alans Total
P9 549 3019
ELHMT £} €a00
Current service Cost {1,013 - {183
Past service gain 1060 - 1.666
Interest cost on benetit sbligatien 38} (5} 143}
Nit benefit expense (note 7) ki (5y 4
Actual rewm on plan assets 6937 1227 i9.208

The above charges are recognised in the income statement partly within the Cost of goods and partly
within the indirect wages and salaries in Administrarive eXpenses.
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Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans {continued;

‘The amouns recognised i the incone statement in 2018 were as follows:

The
Switcerland Netherlands
Plans Plons Taial
SGIE 2008 2018
0 e €040
Current service cost {9467 {1.761)
Interest cost on heaelit obligarion (35} 71
Adminjstrative expenses - {10%)
{1937
Curtaiiment gain - 1.536
Net benelit {expense Yincome (note 7) (981} 594
Actual return on plan assets 387 574
The curtaiiment zasn of £2.3m refers 1o the Netherlands plan that was closed o Brture accrual,
The amcunty of defined berefit Habilittes recognised in the balance sheet are as follows
Thu
switrerland  Netheriondy
FPlany Pluns  Omer Plans
278 204 Bitrar Toeul
G0 €tk €000 ETp7
Present valee of whaolly or partiy funded
pension chligations 28,235 70.939 - 449198
Fair vajue of plan assets {22.842; (70.704) - (93.348)
et value of penston obligations of other plans - - 395 395
Net defined benefit habitity 3.397 135 393 6,047
The amconts of deftned benedit liabilities recogaised in the 2018 balance sheet are as follows:
The
Switzerland  Netherlunds
Plans Pians  Giher Plans
2008 2015 20i% FToral
€00 000 €001 EGI
Present value of wholly ur partly funded
pension obligations 18.076 39 8RS - T1.965
Fair value of plan assets {14,099 (3%.632) - (73,7311
Net value of pension obiigations of other plans - - 323 325
Net defined benefit ability 3,977 257 323 4,359

Other Plans mainly relate to accruals for termination henefits to be paid in France.
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Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans (continued)

The movements in the present vaive of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

The
Swihzeriand  Netherlosds
Bluns Plans Tatu?
000 €300 e
Defined benefit obligatien at 31 December 2617 6118 61.641 TR0
interes! Coss P58 1138 308
Currsnr service ¢ost 046 813 1,761
Bonefits paid i8 {821} (803
Remeasurements:
— Actianal gains from changes in financial assumptions’ (31} {61ty {sa2n
- Experience {gains)losses” {78} 243 163
Curtaitment gain - +2 5536} {2556}
Foreign exchange differences 833 - B33
Defined benefit obligation &t 31 December 2018 18076 30 R8O
interest costs 174 1127
Corrent service cost P.013
Past service gain 1! a6 -
Benefits pad 806 {1,108}
Remeasuremenss:
Agtaarial losses from changes ir financiai assumptions’ 783 785
- Experience fosses” 7974 182 g.156
Financial assumption 1osses” - 1.929 15920
Forelgn exchange differences &7 - B
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2019 28,239 70.959 99,98

“Toral Actuarial (loss)gain on defined benefit pension plans due to lability assumption changes of

{19.870,0001 (201 8: 477.000) comprises these itemas.
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22. Pansions and other posi-employment benefit plans {continued)

The movements in funded scheme assets are as follows

The
Switzerlund  Netheriands
Piang Pluns Total
000G i Funt
Fair vajue of plas assets at 31 December 2017 52.069 71,599
Irterest income 1122 1235
Contibations paid into the plan G15 1,374
Benefits paid out (926} (
Actuarial (lossygain {348
Fureign exchange differences -
Fair value of plaa assets at 31 December 2018 29,632 .
inferest income 1.122 i.258
Contmibutions paid into the plan 3 676
Banetits paid oul ii,108y (762
Actyariat gains F.i4@ EERTH
Foreign exchange difference - Hyc
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 2019 70,704 '()37.5J§

The major categories of plan assets in the plans in Swihizerland are in fixed income bonds 37% {2618
39%). real estate 29% (2018 299} and equities I7% (2018 2185

100% of plan assets i the plans in The MNeiderlands are non-gueted securities {insurunce contracs) (201§
100%,

The overall expectad rate of return on assets is determined based on the market expectations prevailing,
applicable io the period over which the obligation is to be settled. These are reflecred in the principal
assumptions below,

The principal actuarial assumptions {welghted w retlect individual scheme differences) used in the
foilowing principal countries arc as follows:

The The

Swirzerfand  Netherlands  Swirzerland  Netherlonds

Plans Plurs* Plars Plans

2019 201 28 2tHE

% o % 2
DHscound rates 0.4 .1 i.0 1.9
Future salary ncreases PG - Y 1.8
General intlation 1.4 - 1.0 18

*Frtare pension and salary increase of O reders to a plan closed for fuiure secrual,

Posr retirement mortality for pensioners within the plan in Switzerland at the age of 65 is 22.7 years for
male (22,1 years in 201 8) and 25.2 vears for female (25.2 years in 2018).
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Pensions and other post-employment benefit plans {continued)

Valuation of post retirement schemss tRvolves judgments about uncertain future events. Sengitivities in
raspect 0f the key assumptions used to imeasure the principal pension schemes are et out below. These
sensitivities show the hypothetical impact of 2 change in each of the listed assumptions in sclation. While
each of rhese sensitiviries holds all other asswnpiions constant, in practice such asswmpticns rarely change
i isojation and the impacts may offset o some extent

As for tbe Switzeriand pians, the impact on ner Jefined benefit obligation is:

20}

Yop Inerease (% Morease 1% increoye 9% Decrease

EO) EHHN; 4G FiHI
DHscount rate s 350 2,396 ERrS
Salary growth rate 677 354 334 364
Pension growth rate 2787 2.281 2145 1.763

i The Netheriands plans. the impact on net defined benafit obligation is:
294 Tiels
Varwrion Yariation
EREY)

iscount rate (8.3% reduction oty assumption used; 8305 6,709

The group uses votlective arrangements v manage the pension plans. This is the best and practically oniy
available possibility 10 manage the longevity and investment risk. cousidering the size of the Group in
Switzerland.

Tt 2020, the Group expects to contribute €0.8 intliion to its defined beneilt pension plans in Swirzerkand
and £uil to its detined benefit pension pieas in The Netherlands,
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22. Pensions and cother post-employment benefit plans {continued)

The weighted average doration of the defined benefit obligation is 26.0) vears £26.0 years
sxpected maturity analysis of pension ebligations is as shown in the able below:

i 2015) and the

Less than ] Botweun | Benveen 2 Greater than
vear  and 2 vears  and Fyears Svears Tored
€060 €006 008 €000 £
2GiG 3.690 3746 12.247 Y315 GU IOR
2048 27246 2797 §.811 63,651 77,965
23. Provisions
“Hher
Litigation aroviyions Tonl
€04 £004 004
31 December 2017 27 L.58S
Arising during the year 135 -
Ltihisation during the vear - (175
Fxchange rate differences impact . (13
3% December 28 R It 0 1L 9
Arismg durmg the vear 5 - s
Utilisation during the vear i3 (RO {806
Eschange rate differences tmpaet - 34 54
3t Becember 2019 o wro o est 827

2019 Curreny
201G Non-curent

2018 Current
2018 Non-current

Litigation
The provision concerns litigation costs to be incurred.
Other provisions

The amaunt cavers cost for leased offices dilapidarions.
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Trade and other payables

2019 2653
£ EGA0
frade payables 79147
Pavable 10 Lapex creditors 2993 i3
VAT pavable 136 784
{ither pavables . 9“‘ . 3 3_:“
84.194 7,044

Trade payables are non-intersst bearing,

Thers 15 nuy ynaterial difference between the above amounts for rade and oiher nayables and their farr

value due to the short-term duration of the majoriny of teade and other payabies.

Approximately | 7% of the carrving amounts of the trade and ether pavabies texcluding VAT) were

denominated in Sterling {19% in 1018}, If the Fure exchange-rate relative o Sterling had weskened by
Y

10% at 31 December 2019, this would snpact the foreign exchange gain recopnised i the invome
statemant by €1.5 mifiion (€18 million in 2018).

178 of the carrying amounts of the trade and other payables {excluding VAT were denominated
Francs {15% in 2018). I the Hure exchange-rate relative 1o Swiss Francs had weakened by i(% ar 31
Daceinber 7071%. this would impact the foreign exchange loss recognised i the imcome statement by
£1.3 milliop ¢€1.4 million ia 2018

i Swis

Other cyrrent Habilities

G 2618
0G0 €90
Accried expenses and othet corrent Habilivies 7274 7250
Comunission to thivd parties 4.037 4.6449
Bonus ¢ emplovess 23568 P B30
Wage tax 1.027 i4ie
Secial security conmributions LB
R - 1 B
Contract liabilities
2679 2078

Adwances for service malntenance contracts 12312 7428
Advances relsiing to equipment installations 435 -
Advances - other 4 -
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28. Contract liahilities {continued)
RUTLY 208
£004 0
At January 7420 -
Transferred frem “Other current Habilitles” - &M
Deferrad during the vear 12,096 TAGY
Recognised os revenue during the year {7,322) (6,369
Foreign exchange differences T A £
At 31 December 12,788 7420

The increase in contract Habillties is driven by ap increase i deferred service revenue during the vear,

27. Laases

al Amounts recognised in the balance shaet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to lcases:

iy
£500)
Right-of-use assets {Note 11}
Machinery and equipment 339
Land and buildings 12.338
Machines rented out 3149
Other operating assets 3540
16.782

Lease liabilities
Current

Non-Current

by  Amounts recognised in the income statement

The income statement shows the following amounts relating o leases:

B4

€000
Depreciation charge on vight-of-use assets
Machinery and equipment 277
Land and buildings 625
Machines rented out G4
(ther operating assets 2316
Expense relating to shori-term leases 682
Expense relating to low value assets that are not shown as shott-term assets above 105
Expense relating to variable izase payments that are not included within lease liabilities 324

The wotal cash outflow for leases in 2019 was €3.3m.
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Leases (continued)

£)  The Group's leasing activities and how they are accounted for

The Group leases various otfices, warehouses, enuipment and vehicles. Renial conwacts are tvpicaliv for
fixed periots of 1 month w0 3 vears bt may have options (o extend the lease as deseribed in @) bejow.
Contracts mey contain lease and non-lease components The Group allocates the consideration in the
cuniract 1o the lease and pon-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Leuse igrms are negatiated on an individun! basis and contain a wide range of differens terms and
conditions.

vt

Larif the 2018 financial year. leases of property. plant and equipment were classified ay gither Hinance
leases or operating leases. From | January 2019, izases are recognised ax & right-of-use asset with a
corresponding Hability ar the date at which the Izased asset s available for use by the Group.

Assers and Habilities arising from 2 isese sre initally measured on 4 present vahie basis. Lease fabilitiey
ncjude the net present value of the foliowing lease paymenis:

+  Fived payments less any fease incentives receivable

+  Variable lvase payments that are based on an index or a rate, initiallv measurcd

rafe as al the commencement date

* Amounts expected to oo payable by the Group under residual value guarantees

s The exercise prive of 8 purchase option (F the Grougp is reasonably certain (o exercise thar gprion,
and

ho index or

s Payments of penaliies jor ierminanion of the fease I the Group is reasonably cenaln o ineur this.

Least payments 1o be made under reasonably certain extension opiions are also included in the
mezasurentent of the fabilit.

The Group is exposed to poteniial future increases in vanable lease pavments based on an index or rate.
which 15 not included in the lease Hability until they tuke effect. When adjusiments 1o lease payments
hased on an index or rate take effect. the kease liability is reasseszed and adjusted againzt the right-of-use

asset.

3

—

£35¢ payments are allocated between the principal and finapce cost. The finance cost is charged 1o profit
7 1035 over the lease period so as o produce a constaat periodic rure of interest on the remaining balance
T the Eability for cach period.

2

3

‘

Right-of-use assets are meastred at cost comprising the following!

The amoun: of the initivl measure nf the lease Habilisy

Any zase paymenis made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
Any initial direct costs. and

Restoration costs.

s & % &

Right-of-use asseis ars depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful economic jife and the lease torm
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonabiy certain 1 exercise a purchase option, the vaiue of the
right-of-use asset is deprociated over the asset’s useful coonomic fife,

Payments for short-term leases and low value assets are recognised on straight line basis as an expense in

profit or loss. Shon term leases are leases with a termn of 12 months or less. typically for warehouses and
machinery, whereas low value assets typically comprise of IT equipment.
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Leases (continued)
a4} Variable lease payments

Some leases contain variable lease pavments. typicatly property leases thar inciude service charges and car
leases including insurance costs,

&) Extension and termination options

Exrension and termination options are included in several property leases across the Group and are
axercisable by the Group.

d) Impact of IFRS 16 on consotlidated financial statements

The tabie below shows the impact of FFRS 16 on the consolidated fnancial statements:

2449 IFRS 16 2619
FLR fmiflionsy Reported Adjustments Adjusted
thcome Statement
Gross Profit 122 £0.1} AN
Umerating Profit 213 (0.2} Tl
Profit after tax 124 03 127
EBITDA 561 (34 30.7
Batance Sheet
Tutal Assets 3816 (e n 2649
Total Egaity Jted 0.3 3iad
Statement of Cash Flows
et cash flow from operating, 532 (10.83 42.2
investing and financing activiries
Cash interest charges 3.9 0.2} 3.7

Financial instruments

‘The majerity of the Groups financial instruments are basic financial instruments and loans & borrowings.
which are measured at amortised cost. Investments are included in the Company financial statements and
are measured at cost Jess impairment. The Group carries derivative financial instruments at fair vaiue.

Financial instruments measured at fair value in the finarcial statements require disclosure of fair vaiue
measurements by level based on the foliowing fair vaine measurement hierarchy:

~ Level i —the fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period.

— Level 2 - the fair value of financial instruments that are rot traded in an active market is determined
using valuation technigues which maximise the use of observable market data. If afl significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observabie, the instrament is included in level 2; and

~Level 3 - if one or moere of the observable inputs is not based on observable market data, the imstrument
13 inctuded in level 5.

The Group holds one level 2 financial instruntent in 2019 (2018: nil) which is set-out further in this note.
The financial instrument is fevel 2 as its fair value is determined based on techniques for which all inputs
which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable. either directly or indirectly.
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Financial instruments {continued)
interest rate nisk

Interest rate risk iy the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a fimancial mstrument will lhc{ua{e
hecanse of changes in market inferest rates. The Group has no exposure 1o the risk of changes in marke
intersst rates as it has no long-ierm debt obligations with floating interest rates.

Foreign currency risk

The Grogp’s main markets are concentrated in three different European currency zones (Lwo Sterling and
Swiss Francy In additien, the prices of procured coffees are denominated in U8 Dollurs, Although most
operating companics operate .vﬁhm their own currency zopz. sotre of them alse have sales or procurement
activities in various “Torelm™ currencies. As such, the Group is exposed to ransactional foreign currency
exposures on a dallv bagis.

in order 1 secure business profiability. esch transaction denominated in 2 foreign curenuy i hedged
zpon conunitment of the transaction. This is achieved either throngh transactior based hedging wr
“nawural” hedging of currency streams within the Group.

‘}}ﬁ Croup uses forward curehey conrasts tlevel 1) o mitigate exposures primarily arise from inventen

rehases denominared & CHEF, with such contracts Jeq\a,n‘.d {0 COVET axposures ranging from one monit
to one vear At 31 Drecember 2019, the wotal notional principal amount of outstanding currenc: contracts
was €16.6 million {201 8: €5ily and had a fair value of €0.3 million Hability (2018 €Nil). Fureign
CXChange CODH2ets are sensiiive to moventents ip foreign exchange rates and can te anaiyvsed in
comparison o yedr end rates (assuming all other varighles ramain consianty as {ollows:

Jefe 20418
€1t} £
Eftfect on total equity
- 10% movement in CHF rate 247 -

Credit risk

Although the Group supplies coffee 10 a limited number of larze retail organisations per Soungy. the
comcentration risk in trade accounts recetvable is reduced by the geographical spread of the business over
several couniries and by a lower leve! of customer concentration in the out-of-home sector. Cash deposits
and other financial mstruments give rise w credit risk on the amounts receivable from the relevam
counterparties. Counterparty credit risk 15 managed by ensoring cash and shoit term deposits are made
with reputable {inancial institutions.

~e
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Financial instruments (continued)
Liguidity risk

The table below summarises the mawrite profile of the Group’s Gpancial liabiities a1 31 December 219
pased on contractual undiscounted payments.

G Less thun 3o i Jto 3
demand 3 months months vears 7 5 vears Toral
€0 £k #LHi €00 €Nl L1t
tnteresi-bearing Joans and
borrowings - - 178944 83.380 18,833 120177
Trade and other payables - 85,058 - - - 85.038
Lease Habiiitiey - 1,477 $.015 10,834 270 18,146
Derivative financial
mstrument - 46 2if - - 262
Contract abilities - - 12,788 - - 12,788
Other cumrent Habiiities - - - 13,683
34963 94214 21023 243464
The wable below summarises the maturnity profile of the (Group’s fnanceal babdities at 31 December 2018
hased on contractual undiscounted payments.
O Less (han KT I7e
demand 3 monghs manthy wvEeTE 5 reary Total
OO 000 £000 FO00 0 £000
Interest-besrmg loans and
borrow ings - - 18.320 t11,502 - 129,822
Trade and other payables - 85,883 - - - 85.88=
Oifier Habilities - 17.562 7,428 - 23982
R = O - e T T

Capital management

The Group manages s capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment fo
sharcholders, return capital 1o sharcholders or issue new shares.
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28. Financial instruments {continued}
Determiration of Falr vallue

A number of aceointing principles and disclosures require the determination of fair values, for both
financial and non-financial assets and Rabifities. For measurement and disclosures purposes. the {ar vaiue
is determined on the basis of the following methads. Where applicable, detailed informaticn concerning
the principles for determining the fair value is included in the section that specifivally refates to the
relevant asses or Habliigy.

Derivatives

The fair value of forward exchange transactions is based on the quoted market price i available. If there is
no market price available. the fair value is estimared on the basiy of the expected vash fiows discounted at
the current jnterest rates, including a margin for discounting the relevant rish.

Cash Flow Hedye — Forergn fxchange

The objective of the Group's forgign exchange hedging policy is to pretect the Group Torm adverse
currency fuctuations and gain greater certainty of 2arnings through protection against sudden exchange
rate movements. The Group uses forward foreign exchunge conteacts as hedging instruments for hedges of
forecasted transactions,

Passible sources of ineffectiveness are scenarios where future flows are delayved 1o a later period or
brought forward to a prior penod. All hedges are expected 10 be 100% effective and thus no

(M

‘reffectiveness has been recognised in the Group's Income Statement during the year (2018, €Nl
The toliowing impacts on the financial statements of the Group are referenced in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income:
- The amount recagnised i other comprehensive thcome during the year,
- The amount removed from equity and inciuded in profit or 1oss for the year.

28, Acquisition of subsidiaries

No subsidiaries were acquired dering 2619 or 2018,
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30. Commitments
Lupited commitments

The Group had contractual commitments related to factory mchinery at the balance sheet date of
€47 mibiton (€04 milbon tn 20138

Operating fease agreements where the (froup s fessee.

Following the adomtion of IFRS 16 Teuses in 2519, all sperating leases have been recognised on the
Group balance sheet.

The year ended 31 December 2018 has not been restated under JFRS 16 and as such operating leases were
held off balance sheet. in 201¥ the Group had entered into commercial ‘eases on certain praperties. cars
and cotfee machines. These leases had an average duration of between | and 5 vears. Only cenain
nroperty lease agroements contained an option for renewal, with such options being exercisable three 1o
six months before the expiry of the lease e at rentals based on market prices at the e of exercise.
There are no restrictions placed uporn the jessec by entering inro these leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Jaid
LI
Mot later than ong yeor 6.647
After ene vear but ned more than five years L 5

7k
Adfter Tive yoars 222
2108

[
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31. Subsidiaries

Name Lewation Share i issued capial

Dhirect

UL Furope Finance Lud 2 Floor Craven House, 30-45 L%
Lixbridge Road. Londen. UK

Coffez Capsule Holding SA £ Tour de Champel. 1206 Geneva, 130%
Swiizerland

U Coffee Benelux B.V. Kopman Heeresweg, 8701 PR {00%
Bolsward. The Netherlands

UCC Coffee UK Lid 2 Bradbourne Drive, Tilbrook, Y
Milon Keynes. United Kingdom

U Coffee UK Holding Lid 2 Bradbourne Drive, Tilbrock, 160%
Milon Keynes, United Kingdom

HOC Cortee Hojding France Sart 84 Allee Bernard Palissy. Valence, 10095
Trance

DO Cottee Services Switzeriand AG Avenue Lonis-{asal 18 Geneva, L00%
Switzecland

LCC Cottee Germany OmibH Dulmener Strasse 92, Coesteld, P09
{ronau Crermany

DO Coffer Switzertand AG Bernstrasse 188, Zoliikofen, 12
Switzerland

[ndect

Smit & Dorlas Kofficheanders BV, MNijverheidsweg 1. Mijdrecht, The L0,

+etherlands

Cafés Pemplo Foodservice S1 Poligone Cantabria 1. Avenida de P
Mendavia 7. Logroio, Spain

Cocatech SL Gova, 15, ist Floor, 28001 Madrid, TR
Spain

UL Cotfee Spamn Canarias St Hoya Fria 6. 38110 Sansa Cruz de F9g

Tenetife, Spain

Lieshima coffec Portugal Lda Praga Muno Rodrigues dos Santos, 7 L300
VUrbanizagdo das Laranjeiras 1600~
171 Lashon. Portagal

UCC Coffes Ireland Lid Beauchamp's. Riverside Two, Sir 1000
John Rogerson’s Quay Dublin,
Ireland

UCC Coffee Spaim S.L.U. Poligono Cantabria {. Avenida de 100%
Mendavia 7, Logrofio, Spain

1T Coffee France S.AS. 84 Allee Bernard Palissy, Valence, FO0%%
France

Alice Alhson SA Zoma Signu, 6337 Grono, 100%
Switzgrland

All shares held by the Group are ordinary shares.
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UCC Europe Limited

Notes to the financial statements
at 31 Decembsar 2019

Related parties transactions

Diring 2019 and 2018 the Group repaid €13.0 million of the sharehalders loan, onginal value €198.5
million {see note 22 for the vear-end balance).

The interest expense on the shurehulder loan was €23 million (€5.7 million in 2078 - notz §) during the
vear ended 31 December 2019, with €0.3 militon acerued ai the balance sheat date (€0 3m in 20180
i>uring the year the Group paid mapagement charges fo the oltimate parent company UCC Holdmgs Co
Ltd. incorporated in Japan. of €0.¢ million (€0.% million in 2018} The amount vutstandieg as at 3§
Decamber 2019 in respect of this amount was €0.3 million (£0.3 million in 201 8). these amounts are
incheded within trade pavables.

During the year the Group purchased tea, coffee and other services amouniing (0 €1.1 million i€0.5
million in 2018) from other UCC Group members cutside of the UCCE sub-group and coinpaniss under
common directership. The arnount cutstanding as at 31 December 2019 in respect of this amount was €0.2
mition (£0.1 miilion in 20185,

During the vear the Group made sales ol coffee and coffee machines amounting to €0.2m (€nil in 2018 10
ather UCC Group members outside of the UCCFE sub-group. There was no amount cutstanding as ar 31
December 2019 in respect of this sale,

Contingent liabilities

We are currently in legal dispute with a competitor concerning patents butf based on the legal advice we
have veceived, we have o strong case and therefore have not provided for any amounts w these financial
statements, The potential maximuem expasure of this case ranges between €1 3m-E3.0 million (2318 1 5-
30 milhon:

Subsequent events

In March 2020, Governments across burepe announced lockdown resirictions including the ciesure ofa
portior of our customer hase, such as hotels, restaurants and cafes. as part of Governmens COVID-14
rontatnment plans. The extent of this peried of closure and actions by consumers once these have
reupened are uncertain, bui we already note some countries such as Germany and Switzerland have
anpounced the easing of lockdown restrictions.

Whilst revenues o {raditional coffee shops and cafes have decreased as popuiations are toid to remain
isolated, this is being somewhat offset by increased sales to retailers a8 people stockpiie their homes

The Grroup is mitigating the risk of coronavirus to our business throughu

s Use of covernment support schemes such as furloughing of emplovees that are directly involved
m the production and sale of guods and services to customers that are unable to operate due to
government lockdown policies and vartous adminiswative roles:

«  Workers are and wili continue 10 be checked on arrival to factories prior to admission for high
emperatures or aiy other symptom of COVID-19 w prevent widescaie breakouts: and

=  The Group operaies severat factories across Europe and disaster recovery plans are in place
should 2 factory close due to an ocutbreak of coroaavitus.

Downside scenario forecasting indicates a fali in the Group’s Operating Profit in 2020 compared ta the
Board™s expectations prior to development of the COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of these matiers on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern 15 set out in note 2. Despite the potential reduction in
Operating Profit, the Direczors do not curventiy expect an impairment of goodwill, other intangibles.
property. plant and equipment and right of ase assets. based on the projected headroom available,

The Group s also witnessing very strong demand from retailers, which partinlly offsets a fali in demand
from Out of Home and machinery sales. Following its enquiries the directors are also of the opinion that
the fall in demand will be recovered as lockdown measures are gradually relaxed.




UCC Europe Limited

Registered No. 8016813

Company statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2019

20y 208
Nopry E11E £40h)
income trem shares in group undertakings 38067 331248
impairent of invastiments {36.297) 874
Admimiswrative cxpenses {7.140) [R5}
Depreciation snd amortizaiion £103; 1313
(hher meome TH95 6,176
Operating (Loss)/Profit (47.778) 31,37
Finance cosis o {4.401) {4,443,
{Loss)/Profit before tax (52,179} 26,231
income 1@y expense o 2 - -
{Loss}yProfit for the year {52,179 26.93i
Other compreiensive ineome ) S - -
Tota! comprehensive {loss)/income for the year B {51,179y 26931

Al ransactions are derived from continuing operations.




UCC Europe Limited

Registered No, 8015817

Company balance sheet
At 31 December 2019

L0490 &

Nora [ el
Assels
Non-current assets
Property. plant and equipment 5 37 -
infangible assets 5 N
Investments in subsidiarics 3 145677 80527
Long term receivables ] 3

Current assets

Other receivables 1 13 0% T08s
Cash and cash equivalents 7 @7 580
Taotal current assets 13,116 6,857
Totalassets 463132 487,389
Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capiial 8 294060 390,000
Rerained samings {32750 LR
Tatal equity 290.725 342,904
Non-current lighitities

Loans and borrowings 4 136034 126 ddd
Lease iabilitizs - e e
Total non<current tabiiities 128,484
Current fabilities

L.oans and horrowings 9 38 937 15705
Lease liabilities 11 .
Other payables s 1540 2,336
Total current iiabilities 40,891 18,0414
Total squity and liabilites 462,132 487 384

Kazuhiro Tashiro
Director
i
s / PO
i‘,/’\ . ',." O V4 N
V1A /iﬂj\ X fin
24 Jung 2620

70



UCC Europe Limited

Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2019

¥ N H nl
Retained

Share capiral Foral equity

B £0h) I3 I
At 31 Deeember 2 294000 21,973 318,973
‘Pruﬁ{gﬁr thei_\,;:;ﬁ T 7 - 26931 28631
Other eomprehensive income _ - L -
Total comprehensive income N 26,931 26531
At 31 December 2018 194 060 48,504 342,904
Loss for the year L sz {32179y
Other comprehensive facome - - -
Total comprehensiveless " 132,179 (32,179
At 21 December 2019 194,000 {3,275} 90.723




UCC Europe Limited

R

istered No. 8016911

Company statement of cash flows
Far the year ended 31 December 2019

Jaiy M8
SN £900
Operating activities
(i.css)/ Profit betfore tax {52179 26,93
Non-cash adiustment to reconciie profi before tax to ner cash
flows
Reversai of impalnnent of investments R6.,20% (2,874
Investment income {38.067; {33,248)
~  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 03 i1z
Mat finance cosls 4.267 4286
Working capital adjustments
—  Inuyease in current and other receivables {368
(Decreass) lncrease in current lahilities LO30
Net cash flows used in operating activities N (L1410
investing activities
Dividends received 38.067 23248
investment in subsidianes (8,516} -
Purchase of intangible assew {948} -
Net cash flows from investing activities 28,603 13,248
Financing activities - )
Proceeds of loans and borrowings 100G -
Repavment of joans and botrowings 17,147 {10003
Lepaviment of kease Babilities {18 -
Finance costs paid ) 1,179} 44,3223
MNet cash flows used in financing activities {20.344) (19,3223
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 7166 2,785
(Cash and cash equivalents at | January 3.802 3017
Cash and cash equivaients at 31 December 12,968 5.802
Inclnded within cash and cash equivalents (note 7) o7 3.802
included within other receivables {5note 43 12871 -
Totat cash and cash equivalents 12,968 5,802




UCC Europe Limited

istered No. 8016911

Notes to the Company financial statements
at 31 December 2019

Accounting policies

Basis of proparation

The parent company financial statements are prepared i accordance with International Finsocial
Reporting Standards as adopted by ihe European Union and with the Companies Aot 2006, The Parent
company financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention.

Going concern

The directors have a ressenable expectation that the Group has adequate resourees fo continue in
operational existence for the foresceabls tuture.

‘Tha parest company has net current Habilities, which arc clearod through the regular annual receipt of
dividends and income from subsidiaries that are whaolly owned from the group within which the Company
is & member and are planned to continue. Thus the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accolnting in preparing the annual financial stdlements.

in making this assessment the Directors considercd the potential impact of the COVID- 19 pandamic on
the cash flows and hiquidity of the Company over the 12 month period from the date of approval of these
fteancial statements. in doing so the Directors afso considered the results of its wider Group, in particular
its trading subsidiaries. Pleage refer to Note 2 to the consolidated fnancial statements {or an assessment of
ithe Group's going eomcer s,

The Directors have concluded that the potential anpact of the COVID- 19 pandemic desceribed above and
uncertainty ovar possible mitigating actions represents & material uncertaingy that may cast significan
doubt on the Company’s ability to coniinue as a going concemn. Nevertheless, having assessed the
comtibination of these various options and the impact of a potential Hiquidity shortfall in the event o7a
wonger period of fmpact from 1he COVID-19 pandemic the Dirsciors have o reascenable expeciation that
the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the next i2 months. For these
reasons, they continue to adopt a going concern basis for the preparation of the Financial Statements.
Accordingly, these financial siatements do not inctude any adjustnents to the carrying amount or
classification of assers and liabilities that would result if the Company and Group were unaple w contitue
a5 @ £0Ing cOncern.

The accounting poticies which apply in preparing the financial starements 1or 1he year ended 31 December
2019 gre set out in note 2 of the Group consolidated financial statements. In addition, the following
policies also apply:

Investment in subsidiaries and associates

The Company prepares separate financial statements and holds invesiments o subsidiaries and associates
a1 cost fess impairment.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as *lncome from shares in group undertakings’ in the statement of
comprehensive incorme when the right of payment has been established.

Revenue

The Company recharges costs for sarvices rendered 1o its subsidiaries on an arm’s length basis.




UCC Ewope Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements
at 31 December 2019

income tax expense

Tax expense in the income statement

2519 2018

FUfH gy

—  Uurment income W expanse - -
~  Adjustmants recognised in the period for current tax of prior periods o - N -

Total curent tay R - T
Rzconcitiation of the total tax expanse

e tax axpense p the sigterment of comprehensive income £0f the vear s igher (2018: lower) than the
standard e of corporation tex vt the LUK of 19% (1925 in 2018 The differences are reconiled below:

2009 J0id
i Elrin

tLoss ) Profit hafore taxation

Tax caleulated at UK standard eate of sorporation ax of 19% (201 8 9%
incoma not tanahle for @y purposes

—  Lxpenses not deductible for lax purposes

- Group tax relief surrendered

Totat tax expense reported in income sintement - B -

There were 1o payments received for Group reliet surrendered i 2019 or 2018,

Investment in subsidiaries

31 December 2017
Additions

31 Decaimber 2012
Addirions
frinpairment

31 December 2019

A lst of investments comprising the above is included in note 31 to the group financial statements.

Qther receivables

PUTES iR
€06 03
Receivables from group companies i4.931 976
Prepayments and accrnued income . & 79
1501y 1055

Receivables from Group compantes refer to management fees invoiced to the operating entities and
includes cash in mirror accoums that the Company has access to without restriction.




UCC Europe Limited

TN . . 2 S

Notes to the Company financial statements
at 31 December 2019

5. Property, plant and equipment

Ihher nperating

dsyety Right of usz assets Teal
000 e 00

Cast or valuation:
31 December 2047 Al
31 December 2018 T sE

L _ 387
Transition adjusument - 490G 450
31 Cecember 2019 87 asn 07T

Depreciation and impairmaent:
31 December 2017 4753 -

Deprectation charge for the vear (P12 -

31 Decemper 2018 Csenm T 27
Depreciation charge for the year - {1037 LHLE

31 December 2019 Cssh A RLEO R
Net bock value:

At 31 December 2019 . 387 287

At 31 December 2018 z

Deprecistion charge has been fully charged within Operating Profiv
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MCC Europe Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements

at 3t December Z019

Intangible assets

Cost or valuation:
31 December 2017
31 December 2018
Additions
Disposals
31 Decemiber 2019

Depreciation and impairment:
31 December 2017

3% December 2018

Dhspasals

31 December 2019

Net book value:
At 31 December 2019
At 31 December 2018

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at banks and on hand

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

The carrying value of cash and cash eguivalents approximates their fair value.

lssued share capitai

Authorised shares

Safhvare Total

cou €U

62 92
R =R
947 947

{927 (923

My s
£92)
. B>

947 9.47 _
261y ity
€000 £000

12968 ) 77!?_8(?2_
12,968 3,802
Thousands €066
294,000 294,000

Crdimary shares of €1 each at 31 December 2019 and 31 Decemnber 2018
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UCC Europe Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements

at 31 December 2019

Loans and borrowings
2619 iR
FGe £

Now-currens
Sharchoelder loan
Leans from Group companies

Current

Sharehoider loan

Loan from group companies

Accrued interest on loan from group companies
Aserued inrerest on shareholder loan

The shareholder loan amountiug w £1O8.6 million tFI123.6 million it 2018 is disclosed in now 21 of the

Gruup accounts.

Thea taan rom Gredp companies incluge:

i E17.9 midhion is payable e UOC Coffee Benelux BUY |, with a mararity dase 1 2028 and kas ar
interest raze of 3.06% (118 €17.9m).

it €4).8 million iz payabie to UCE Europe Finance Limiied with a maturity date in 2029 and has an
interest rate of 1.809%, (2018 €Nii). Amounts payaoie within one vear: €4 3m {2018; €nii):
Amounts payable within 2-3 years: €17.2m {2018 €nily, Amaunts pavable greater than 5§ vears:
£19.3m {2018 €ntl),

Hi €1 4 million i3 puyable 16 UCT Coffee Germany GmbH.. with a materiyy date in 2020 and has an
fterest rare of 180% <2018 €Niy

Other payables

201y Za18

ED00 000

Account pavable (o thivd panties 741 &2
Acgount pavables to Group compantes 335 991
Accrued expenses and other payabies 6040 G40
Bonus to cmplovees 264 337
e 1000 2336

{iher payables are non-interest bearing.
Payables to Group companies primarily refate to recharges incurred.

There is no material difference berween the above amounts for trade and other payabies and their {air
value doe to the short-term dugation of the majority of trade and other payabies.
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UCC Europe Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements
at 31 December 2019

Related parties

In addition so the disclosures provided in note 9, related party balances and wansactions are with
companies with fellow wholly owned subsidiaries are not disciosed on the hasis of being included within
*he consoiidated financial statements of which the Company is a member.

Financial instrumants

Diuring the normal course of business, te Company makes use of investments, cash, group receivabies,
ioans and borowings and group borrowings. Borrowings arc at fixed rales and are therefore nof exposed
10 market risks. Group balances and borrowings are measured at amortised cost. With the exception of
mvestment linpairment risk, the Company’s appreach (o managing exposure fo risk ansing from the gse of
financial instruments is set-out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Investment impairment risk

At each reportng date the Company determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment m
the subsidiary is impaired. IF there is such evidence. the Company calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount and (s carmy ing vaiue and then rscognizes the loss within
the statement of comprehensive income. Aa impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
ipvestment amounts exceeds it reconverabic amount. The Company manages 5 expasure to Investment
impalmment risw by continuously monitoring the performance of s subsidiarias.

Ultimate parent undertaking and controiling party

The Company is a subsidiary undertaking of UCC Holdings Co Lid, incorporated in lapan, the smailest
and iargest Group that consoiidate the resuits of the company .

Subsequent events

In Mareh 2020, Governmenis across Europe announced lockdown restrictions inciuding the closure ofa
portion of our customer base, such as hotels, restaurants and cafes, as part of Government COVID 1Y
containment pians. The extent of this period of ciosure and actions by consumers once these have
regpenad are uncertam, but we aiready note some countries such as Gemmany and Switzerland have
announced the easing of lockdown restrictions

Downside scenario forecasting indicates a fall in the Group’s Operating Profitin 2020 compared o the
Board s expectations prior w developoeni ot the COVID-19 pandemic. The impact of these matters on
the Gronp's ahility 1o continue as a gotng concem is set out in notes 2 and 34 to the Group financial
staterments.

o



